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Numiber oft -

Market Presence in over 50 Countries

Key Markets
U.S., Europe, Asia Pacific and
Latin America

Key Customers

Poultry, cattle and swine integrators, feed-
mills and premix companies, animal health
distribution organizations, commercial fish
farmers and producers

$296

Over 100 Products 400
Antibiotics, antimicrobials, anticoc-

cidials for delivery in both feed and

water and vaccines for farmed fish

Key Products

BMD® Aureomycin® Bovatec®
Deccox™, Avatec® Alpha-ject®
vaccines

U.s.

Chicago Heights, Illinois;
Longmont, Colorado;
Willow Island, West Virginia

Europe
Oslo, Norway; Overhalla,
Norway




at-a-glance

> About Alpharma

Alpharma Inc. is a growing specialty pharmaceutical
company with market leading positions as a global
manufacturer and marketer of products for humans
and animals. Alpharma’‘s core elements include

a global human generics and active pharmaceutical
ingredients business, a growing branded products
business and an internationally recognized animal
health business, focused on products that enhance
food quality and safety for humans.

A i i e

={HUMaR PRarmaceuticals -
U.S. Humen Phermecauticals

Market leader in generic pharmaceutical
products in the U.S. with growing branded
business.

Humen Fharmaceuticals Internatiens)
Generies

Market leader in generic pharmaceutical
products in Europe with a growing
. presence.-in. Southeast Asia. -

Aetve Phermacauties] ingredients
Leading worldwide producer of
key active pharmaceutical ingredients.

- Animal Health

7

Leading global manufacturer and marketer
of pharmaceutical products for poultry,
swine and cattle producers; leading
producer of vaccines for farmed fish.




> Through great people, superior processes and innovative solutions, we will be a leading
company in making medicine accessible.

values

> Bias for Action—seizing opportunities and delivering results
> Teamwork—working together to exceed goals
> Courage—Ileading constructive change

> Integrity—acting on what is right

> Creativity—inspiring new ideas
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“Operating cash flow less capiral
expendineres and dividends,
= Excludes debt placement fees

Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2003W 2002 2001 200004 1999
Profit and Loss
Net revenues $1,297 $1,231 $ 969 $ 893 $ 710
Operating income (loss) § 104 § @O $ 26 $ 125 $ 83
Net income (loss) from continuing operations § 23 $ ©Oh $ 37 $ 56 $ 30
Net income (loss) S 17 $ (100) $ (38) S 55 $ 30
Share Data
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.43 $(1.88) $(0.89) $ 1.50 $ 1.06
Net income (loss) $ 0.32 $(2.00 $(0.92) $ 1.47 $ 1.05
Average common shares outstanding (diluted) 52.0 49.8 40.9 475+ 28.1
Balance Sheet at December 31
Total assets $2,328 $2,297 $2,390 31,610 $1,152
Stockholders™ equity $1.135 $1,002 $ 890 $ 846 $ 342

(1) ncludes loss on extinguishment of debt after tax of $17.3 million ($0.33 per share).
(2) 2002 includes identified transactions of $145.5 million afler tax, or approximately $2.90 per share.
(3) 2001 results include identified transactions of $67.1 million after tax, or $1.64 per share related 10 the 2001 acquisition

of the F [ Faulding businesses, deleveraging efforts and reorganization. refocus, and otber actions.
(4) 2000 results include charges of 36.1 million pre-tax ($4.0 million afler tax) or $.09 per share related 1o the acquisition
of Roche MFA in May of 2000.

*Includes shares assumed issued under the if-converted method for the convertible notes.




dear fellow

shareholders:

in 2003, our highest priority was the improvement of FDA
compliance at our U.S. human generic manufacturing sites.
As a result, we increased compliance spending significantly
and launched no new major products in the U.S., our largest
human generic market. Our financial performance in 2003
reflects this focus on compliance, which negatively impacted
revenue and earnings. We believe we made significant
progress in our FDA compliance status in 2003, as weli as
in a number of other areas:

* Growth. The lack of major new products resulted in no
significant gains in our U.S business and the benefits
of new product launches in our international generics
businesses were partially offset by continued price ero-
sion. However, our APl business revenues grew 49% and
operating income grew 69%. In addition, our branded
product Kadian® doubled in revenues, increasing from
$32 million in 2002 to $65 million in 2003. We also took
an opportunistic approach 10 our product pipeline and
realized income relating to metformin ER through a
profit-sharing agreement.

In the past few years, we have
built a talented and high
performing work force to take
us into the future.”

 Operational Excellence. We expanded our manufacturing
capacity for APls and extended release finished pharma-
ceuticals and rebalanced our work force, investing in the
critical area of FDA compliance.

Ingrid Wiik
President and Chief Executive Officer

* Cash Generation. \We generated record free cash flow
and reduced debt significantly. We also refinanced debt,
reducing the interest rate on our high yield debt from
12.5% t0 8.625%.

* People. We added talent to all levels of the organization
in 2003, and also began implementing key management
processes that will enable us to keep our work force
competitive.

Business Highlights:

In 2003, increased APl and Kadian® sales drove revenue
growth in our Human Pharmaceuticals business. However,
stepped up compliance activities in the U.S., continued price
competition in international markets, and charges related
to work force reductions negatively impacted our operating
margins. Additionally, cGMP improvement activities hindered
our ability to launch new products in the U.S., and in Europe,
recently launched products, like simvastatin, were met with
intense competitive pressures. ANDA filings in the U.S. were
minimal as resources were focused on FDA compliance
improvements. Completion of FDA improvement efforts
and increased investment in R&D are essential 1o accelerate
the faunch of new products and improve generics sales
and profitability.

Generic competition affected revenue growth in Animal
Health; however, the business stabilized, generated significant
cash flow and impraved its productivity through plant shut-
downs, work force reductions and increased low cost raw
material sourcing.



2004 Focus:
Our objectives for 2004 are clear:

* Compliance. We will work towards completion of our
FDA compliance improvement program. This critical work
demands significant time, resources, and financial invest-
ment. There are no shortcuts. We expect these efforts to
be substantially completed by the end of 2004 and resuit
in an FDA status that is both compliant and sustainable.
We expect our success to be visible in the resumption
of new product launches in the U.S. during the second
half of 2004. We will also implement stronger financial
controls and processes needed to comply with the new
Sarbanes-Oxley requirements.

Growth. We expect to improve productivity and increase
our investment in research and development. Our 2003
focus on FDA compliance diverted resources from new
product activities. In 2004, we will invest aggressively in
our global pipeline of finished pharmaceuticals and APIs.
We expect to show progress by a sharp increase in ANDA
filings. We will also expand our fast growing branded
business. We will increase the Kadian® sales force approx-
imately 40% in order to reach a larger physician popu-
lation and drive script growth. As a result, we expect
continued revenue gains.

Operational Excellence. We will continue to leverage

our multinational positions in order to increase efficiency
and maximize our competitive position. We are reviewing
our product pipeline for global opportunities, and pursu-
ing FDA approva! for our highly efficient, Jow-cost UK
finished pharmaceuticals plant. We will also begin to
implement the robust processes we need to improve
customer service, forecasting, purchasing, and inventory
management.

» Cash Generation. We will continue to generate cash and
improve our financial position. In a little over two years
we have reduced our net debt level from more than
$1 billion to below $800 million, primarily through the
generation of free cash flow. We expect to continue this
progress in 2004.

* People. Our performance and talent management
processes will identify areas we need to address in order
1o increase our competitiveness.

In the past few years, we have built a talented and high
performing work force to take us into the future. We are com-
mitted to developing a participative culture that is focused
on learning and the achievement of our strategic goals. Our
management team has been considerably strengthened, and
we are adding talent at all layers of the organization. We will
continue to realign our organization to effectively leverage our
global leadership strengths and employee contributions.

Our vision for Alpharma is straightforward: Through great
people, superior processes, and innovative solutions we will
be a leading company in making medicine accessible.

oD

Ingrid Wiik
President and Chief Executive Officer




Ingrid Wiik
President &
Chief Executive Officer

Carl-Ake Carlsson
President, Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients &
Branded Products

Matthew Farrel/
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

leadership team

Frederick Lynch
President, Global Generic
Pharmaceuticals

George Rose
Executive Vice President
Human Resources &
Communications

Ronald Warner

Senior Vice President, Human
Pharmaceuticals Scientific
Affairs & Compliance

Carol Wrenn
President, Animal Health

Robert Wrobel

Executive Vice President &
Chief Legal Officer
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Selected Financial Data

The following is a summary of selected financial data for the Company and its subsidiaries. The data for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003 have been derived from, and all data should be read in conjunction with, the audited consofidated
financial statements of the Company, included in this Report. All amounts are in thousands, except per share data.

> Statement of Operations Data

T

Years Ended December 31, } 2003 | 2002% 2001 2000® 1999w
Total revenue $1,297.285 $1,230,762 $969,286 $892,977 $709,553
Cost of sales 3 774,806 705,174 591,093 497,300 384,886
Gross profit | s2479 | 525588 378193 395677 324667
Operating expenses | 418,089 549,799 352,213 271,037 241,316
Operating income (loss) 104,390 (24,211) 25,980 124,640 83,351
Interest expense {63,608) (76,212) (51,482) (47,245) (40,790)
Other income (expense), net (16,661) (55,859 (11,634 (1,367) 3,093
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 24,121 (156,282) (37,136) 76,028 45,654
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1,574 (62,715) (543) 19,975 15,727
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 22,547 (93,567) (36,593) 56,053 29,927
Loss on discontinued operations (5,611 (6,099 (1,109 (1,188) (330)
Net income (loss) $ 16936 $ (99,661)  $(37,702)  $ 54,865 $ 29,597
Average number of shares outstanding: Diluted 52,010 49,814 40,880 47,479 28,104
Earnings (loss) per diluted common shares:

Income (loss) from continuing operations P8 0.43 $  as® § (08 § 150 $  1.06
(Loss) from discontinued operations $ (01D 1 $ (012 § (003 $ (003 $ ©OD
Net income (loss) (s 032 8 Q0 § 09 § 147 0§ 105
Dividend per common share $ 018 |3 0.18 $ 018 $ 018 $ 018

(1) Includes results of operations from date of acquisition for all 1999 acquisitions. In addition, 1999 includes pre-tax charges of approximately $2,175
relating to the closing of the Company’s AAHD Bellevue, Washington facility which are included in operating expenses.

(2) Includes shares assumed issued under the if-converted method for the convertible notes.

(3) Includes resulis of operations from date of acquisition of Roche MFA (May 2000) and charges related to the Roche MFA acquisition which are included
in cost of sales (81,000), operating expenses (§400), and other, net ($4,730). Charges, net after-tax, were approximately $4,026 (5.09 per share).

(4 Includes results of operations from date of acquisition of Faulding OPB (December 12, 2001), after-tax charges related to the acquisition of $52,400
($1.28 per share), after-tax charges for de-leveraging activities of $6,800 (.17 per share) and after-tax charges for reorganization, refocus and other

actions of $7,900 (3.19 per share).

(5) Includes charges related to the Faulding acquisition of $5,357, de-leveraging activities of 851,137, charges for reorganization, refocus and other actions
of $51,956, and impairment charges of $116,598. Impairment charges include $7,008 related to discontinued operations. Total charges were approxi-

mately $2.90 per share.

(6) Includes loss on extinguishment of debt after-tax of $17,329 ($0.33 per share).

> Balance Sheet Data

December 31, : 2003 2002 2001® 2000@ 1999®
Current assets ' $ 691,524 $ 671,429 § 662,521 $ 600,418 $ 373,462
Non-current assets 1,636,277 | 1,625,495 1,727,487 1,010,017 778,394
Total assets $2,327,801 $2,296,924  $2,390,008 $1,610,435 $1,151,856
Current liabilities P $ 353,701 $ 378,601 § 345,015 $ 208,639 $ 166,038
Long-term debt, less current maturities } 782,249 847,266 1,030,254 504,445 591,784
Deferred taxes and other non-current liabilities | 56,759 69,214 124,983 51,665 52,273
Stockholders’ equity i 1,135,092 1,001,843 889,756 845,686 341,761
Total liabilities and equity $2,327,801 ; $2,296,924  $2,390,008 $1,610,435 $1,151,856

(1) Includes accounts from date of acquisition for all 1999 acquisitions.
(2) Includes accounts from date of acquisition of Roche MFA (May 2000).
(3) Includes accounts from date of acquisition of Faulding Oral Pharmaceuticals Business (December 2001).

> page G
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations

(In millions, except per share data)

> Alpharma Entities Defined
Alpharma businesses as defined (for MD&A comparison purposes):

IG*  —International Generics

API*  —Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

USHP*—U.S. Human Pharmaceuticals, including former divisions:
USPD—U.S. Pharmaceuticals Division; and
OPB—U.S.—Faulding U.S. oral solid dose business

(generic and branded)

AH* —Animal Health

OPB —The Faulding Oral Pharmaceuticals business purchased
December 12, 2001 consisting of U.S. cperations
“OPB-U.S.” and an operation in China—"0OPB-China.”

*Business segment

> Overview

The Company is a leading global specialty pharmaceutical com-
pany that develops, manufactures and markets pharmaceutical
products for humans and animals. The Company offers a compre-
hensive range of generic human pharmaceutical products in over
800 tablet, capsule, liquid and topical formulations and dosage
forms. In addition, the Company manufactures and markets a line
of fermentation-based active pharmaceutical ingredients (“APl's”)
that are used primarily by third parties in the manufacturing of
generic and branded products. It also manufacturers and markets
animal health products in over 100 formulations and dosage forms.
The Company conducts business in more than 60 countries and has
approximately 4,700 employees at 40 sites, in 27 countries.

The Company's Human Pharmaceutical business is composed
of USHP. APl and 1G. The USHP includes a generic business and
a branded product line consisting of two products. |G is an inter-
national generic business primarily in Europe with subsidiaries in
Indonesia and China. The APl is a worldwide business which
manufactures and sells a range of fermentation based active
pharmaceutical ingredients which are used by third parties in
the production of finished pharmaceutical products.

The main factors affecting the Human Pharmaceutical
business are:

¢ Generic pharmaceutical markets in the U.S. and internationally
are extremely competitive and/or regulated by governments
which exerts downward pressure on prices.

¢ Legislation can aiso influence demand for products and prof-
itability. Legislation was effective in Germany on January 1,
2004, which increased the Pharmaceutical Manufacturer Rebate
from 6% to 16%. In addition, the co-payments required by
patients increased as of fanuary 1, 2004. The impact of the

increased rebate will be to lower annual gross profits by
approximately $2.5 million. The increase in co-payments
increased demand for certain products in the fourth quarter
of 2003 as certain patients bought their prescriptions prior
to the increase in the required co-payment. The increase in
fourth quarter demand will be offset by a likely decrease in
first quarter 2004 demand.

* Success in the generic industry depends on developing, manu-
facturing and marketing new products, including generic ver-
sions of products no longer subject to patent protection. The
successful introduction of new products is affected by the
timing of introduction. Being first to market brings significant
returns. Introducing a new product after or with a number of
competitors generates significantly lower returns. The Company
plans to increase research and development spending in 2004
to increase filings with regulatory agencies and increase the
number of new product introductions.

* Compliance with FDA and comparable international agencies’
regulations and guidelines is of paramount importance.
Significant costs are incurred and opportunities are fost if
corrective action efforts in product manufacture are required.
The Company has been negatively affected by corrective action
costs in 2003 and 2002. The Company will continue to spend
significant amounts, both internal and external, on corrective
actions in 2004,

e Branded and API products offer profitable growth opportuni-
ties as unigueness and marketing efforts can maintain or
increase pricing and increase demand, Strong profitability and
growth opportunities also can encourage additional competi-
tion. Pricing was increased substantially on certain APl prod-
ucts in 2003. Branded sales volume increased over 60% in
2003 as a result of marketing efforts.

The Company’s Animal Health business is a global leader in
the development, registration, manufacturing and marketing of
medicated feed additives for food producing animals including
poultry, cattle, swine and farmed fish.

The main factors affecting the Animal Health business are:

» Agricultural markets have historically had low growth rates. In
addition, demand for company products has been and could
continue to be reduced by bans on the use of antibiotics and
animal diseases such as “mad cow” disease and Asian bird flu.

-

Importation of MFA's from low cost countries such as India
and China has increased competition and lowered pricing.

> page 7
Alpbharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report




Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations continues

(In millions, except per share data)

The Company business segments also have significant intangi-
ble assets and goodwill which require impairment testing and
possible write-downs based on triggering events which indicate
the carrying amount may not be recoverable (e.g., increased
competition, changes in future plans).

The Company’s operations as a whole have been affected by
the debt incurred through 2001 to make a number of acquisitions.
Commencing in late 2001 and continuing through 2003,
Alpharma focused on de-leveraging its balance sheet by convert-

ing $212 million of the Company’s convertible notes into com-
mon stock and reducing additional indebtedness with free cash
flow generated through operational efficiencies in the use of
working capital and by reducing capital expenditures. 2001 and
2000 were years which included a number of significant transac-
tions which the Company entered into as part of or to finance,
its previous acquisition program. No acquisitions were planned
or completed during 2002 and 2003.

In addition, in 2001 through 2003, the Company incurred sig-
nificant charges for reorganization, refocus and de-leveraging
which were intended to improve future operations and reduce
debt and recognize asset impairments.

¢ [n 2003, the Company incurred pre-tax charges of $28.4 mil-
lion related to the extinguishment of senior subordinated
notes, the sale of its French operation which was classified as
a discontinued operation and incurred an $8.7 million pre-tax
charge, in connection with an employee reduction program.

* [n 2002, the Company incurred pre-tax charges and write-
downs of $219.8 million including significant charges and
expenses related to the required acquisition accounting for
OPB (pre-tax $5.4 million), de-leveraging activities (pre-tax
$52.9 million), severance charges and asset write-downs
related to reorganization and refocus of the organization
(pre-tax $53.4 million) and the impairment of assets and
goodwill, {pre-tax $115.1 million) primarnily in the Animal
Health segment. (See “Identified Transactions, 2002.")

e |n 2001, the Company incurred pre-tax charges and write-
downs of $83.8 million, including charges and expenses
related to the acquisition and financing of OPB (pre-tax $61.9
million) de-leveraging activities (pre-tax of $8.3 million) the
combination of OPB and USPD to form USHP, the combination
of management for IG and API, management actions in the
Animal Health segment and other unusual items (together,
pre-tax $13.0 million). (See “Identified Transactions, 2001.")

> page 8
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> 2003

¢ In the first quarter, the Company prepaid $35.0 million of the
2001 Credit Facility's term loans.

* In the second quarter of 2003, the Company sold $220.0 mil-
lion aggregate principal amount of 8%% Senior Notes due
2011. The proceeds of the offering, after deducting fees and
expenses, were $197.0 million. These proceeds, together with
funds available from other sources, were used to repay exist-
ing 12.5% senior subordinated notes. The fees paid to the
initial purchasers of the senior subordinated notes of $22.2
million were made pursuant to arrangements originally entered
into in December 2001. The transaction was accounted for as
an extinguishment of the existing senior subordinated notes.
As a result, both the fees of $22.2 million paid in April 2003
and the unamortized loan costs of $6.2 million associated
with the senior subordinated notes, were expensed in the
second quarter 2003. The effective tax rate in 2003 was 6.5%
due primarily to the tax benefit associated with the expensing
of the debt placement fees and unamortized loan costs.

¢ In the third quarter of 2003, the Company closed the sale of
its French subsidiary, Alpharma SAS (“SAS") for approximately
$6.0 million. The sale resulted in a pre-tax loss of $4.0 million.
The operations of SAS have been redlassified as a discontinued
operation. Prior periods have been reclassified to reflect this
presentation. All comparisons of results of operations refer to
continuing operations and reflect the elimination of SAS.

¢ In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company had a program to
reduce its work farce which resulted in a charge of $8.7 million
and the severing of approximately 175 employees. Additionally,
the Company amended its 2001 Credit Facility to allow for
certain asset sales, permit exclusions for restructuring (includ-
ing the fourth quarter severance) and refinancing charges
from EBITDA and amended certain leverage ratios to delay
the timing of further covenant restrictions.

> 2002

* In March, the Company prepaid $35.0 million of senior debt
and recorded a charge for early extinguishment of debt (pre-
tax $.7 million). In addition, the Company issued 6.7 million
new shares in exchange for $110 million of outstanding con-
vertible notes and recorded a non-cash expense of $48.0 mil-
lion pre-tax and $29.3 million after-tax ($.60 per share).



¢ In the third quarter, the Company determined that certain tan-
gible and intangible assets related to an Animal Health prod-
uct, Reporcin, were impaired and recorded a pre-tax charge of
$37.1 million and $24.2 million after-tax ($.47 per share).

¢ During the year, the Company instituted certain management
reorganizations and reductions in force and recorded charges
for severance of approximately $6.8 million ($.09 per share).

¢ In the fourth quarter, the Company amended the senior loan
agreement to include covenant relief for certain fourth quarter
charges for plant closings and impairments primarily in the
Animal Health business. The fourth quarter charges were
approximately $119.6 million pre-tax ($1.51 per share).

* In addition, the amendment reduced the revolving credit com-
mitment by $150.0 million. The Company repaid term debt of
$50.0 million in the fourth quarter which resulted in a charge
of $1.0 million pre-tax ($.01 per share). The reduction and
repayment resulted in a write-off of deferred debt expense of
$3.2 million ($.04 per share).

> 2001

¢ InJuly, the Company agreed to acquire the OPB for $660.0 mil-
lion (approximately $700.0 million including direct acquisition
related costs and financing costs). The acquisition closed in
December and resuited in significant required charges including
a $37.7 million charge for in-process research and development.

* The OPB acquisition was ultimately funded by a $900.0 million
Bank Credit Agreement (“2001 Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of banks and a $200.0 million senior subordinated
note. Proceeds from the 2001 Credit Agreement were used to
repay the prior Bank Credit Agreement. Bridge financing and
other bank fees and the repayment of the prior Bank Credit
Agreement resulted in additional expenses of approximately
$3.3 million in 2001.

¢ Concurrent with the OPB Acquisition, the Company’s USPD was
combined with the U.S. operations of OPB to form the U.S.
Human Pharmaceutical Segment. The combination resuited in
approximately $4.8 million in severance charges in 2001,

» in September, the Company announced the combination of
management for IG, AP} and OPB-China. The combination
resulted in charges of approximately $4.3 million primarily
for severance.

¢ In November, the Company’s Animal Health Segment
announced changes in business practices and a change in
existing management. These changes resulted in severance
of approximately $1.1 million, charges relating to the exiting
of a product line of $11.2 million, and lower sales in the
fourth quarter of 2001.

¢ In December, the Company exchanged $34.1 miliion of out-
standing subordinated debentures into approximately 1.5 mil-
lion shares of Class A comman stock and recorded a non-cash
expense of $7.4 million. Additionally, the Company repaid
term loans of $65.0 million and recorded a charge for early
extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million.

Discontinued Operations

On September 30, 2003, the Company sold its French sub-
sidiary for $6.0 million. The net loss for this subsidiary for the
years 2003, 2002 and 2001 are reflected in the Company's
Consolidated Statement of Operations as loss from discontinued
operations. Included in 2002 results is an impairment of intangi-
ble assets of $7.0 million. Included in the 2003 loss is the write-
off on sale of the remaining $6.3 million of intangible assets and
the goodwill write-off on sale of $2.4 million.

The following table details selected financial information for
the French subsidiary included within discontinued operations.

Statement of Operations
(§ in millions)

Years Ended December 31, iy i 2002 2001
Revenues '$ 415 $59 $60
(Loss) from operations Z ’$(1.8) $8.1) $(1.3)
Pre-tax (loss) [8(59) 1 $BD 313
Provision (benetit) for taxes IS0 320 8 (2
(Loss) from discontinued operations i $(5.600 $6.1D $A.D
Halilnsbeits

Balance Sheet

December 31, 2002 2001
Current assets $28 $25
Non-current assets $67 $11.2
Current liabilities $12 $13
Deferred taxes and other $17 § 32

> Results of Continuing Operations 2003 vs. 2002
(All earnings per share amounts are diluted)

Total revenue increased $66.5 million (5.4%) in the year
ended December 31, 2003 compared to 2002. Foreign exchange
accounted for approximately $59 million of this increase. In 2002,
the Company recorded a net loss of $33.6 million ($1.88 per share)
compared to net income of $22.5 million ($.43 per diluted share)

>page 9
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations consinuew

(In millions, except per share data)

in 2003. 2003 results include a pre-tax charge of $28.4 million
($0.33 loss per share) for extinguishment of debt related to the
April 2003 issuance of Senior Notes due 2011. 2002 results
include significant charges and expenses related to the impair-
ment of assets and goodwill in the Animal Health segment,
the required acquisition accounting for the Faulding Oral
Pharmaceuticals Business {"OPB”), de-leveraging activities and
severance related to reorganization and restructuring. These
charges and expenses lowered pre-tax income by $219.8 million.
See 2002 identified transactions.

The following summarizes revenues and operating income
by segment:

Operating Income

Years Ended December 31, Revenues (Loss)
($ tn millions) {003 | 2002 2005 | 2002
G |$ 3678 | 53196 | $292 | § 258
API l12435 836 | 657 | 38.9
USHP" 5247 | 5079 | 389 | 663
Total Human 1 ; j “
Pharmaceuticals | 1,017.8 | 9111 | 1338 | 1310
AH | 2957 0 319 . 201 | (1209
Profit sharing ! ] j
income™ P oD — | On| —
Unallocated and | } ] !
eliminations |63 Q2 | “H | 343
Total | 812973 | $12308 | 51044 | § (24

(2) In 2003, profit sharing income is included in USHP and is classified as
other income in the consolidated statement of operations.

> Revenues

Revenues in USHP increased $16.8 million (3.3%) due prima-
rily to the branded product (Kadian). Branded sales {(primarily
Kadian) were $64.8 million in the year 2003 compared to $39.1
miltion in 2002. Sales of generic products declined 2% due prima-
rily 1o liquid dose volume declines for the entire year due to
Baltimore corrective actions and lower volumes of oral solids par-
tially related to modified release capacity constraints at the solid
dose plant in the second quarter of 2003. Revenues of generic
products include approximately $9.1 million earned as a result of
a profit sharing agreement on the launch of Metformin ER in the
fourth quarter of 2003. Such income is recorded as revenues for
USHP management reporting purposes but is reclassified as other
income in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Under the
agreement, Alpharma and Ivax agreed to share profits during the
180 day exclusivity period. In return, Alpharma withdrew a law-
suit which challenged Ivax first to file status on Metformin ER.
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Inventories of generic products at certain wholesale customers
generally range from 2-6 months for all products, with a majority
at the lower end of the range. One major wholesale customer
typically holds up to 5 months of inventory for certain products.
Kadian inventory at certain whaolesale customers is estimated to
be approximately 4-5 months based on expected demand. These
inventory levels have remained consistent. However, in the event
that customers reduce inventory levels in the future, the Company's
revenues could be adversely impacted.

Revenues in 1G increased $48.2 million {(15.1%) due primarily
to translation of sales made in foreign currencies into the U.S.
dollar (14.1%). The remaining revenue increase of approximately
1.0% was attributable to higher volume of products (6%) which
was substantially offset by price declines {5%), mainly in the
United Kingdom and Nordic markets.

Revenues in APl increased $40.9 million (49%) due primarily to
price increases in selected products (46%). Foreign currency trans-
lation also increased APl revenues by approximately 5%. Aggregate
volume of alt APl products was approximately 2% lower.

Animal Health revenues declined $26.2 million (8.1%) due to
volume declines (6%) and price reductions (5%) due to competi-
tion, primarily in swine and cattle markets, Foreign currency trans-
lation positively impacted Animal Health revenues by 3%.

> Gross Profit

On a Company-wide basis gross profit decreased $3.1 million
in 2003 compared to 2002. As a percentage of sales, overall gross
profit was 40.3% in 2003, versus 42.7% in 2002. Included in
2002 is a reduction in margin of $5.3 million due to purchase
accounting adjustments for the OPB and $1.4 million related to
the AH product impairment. included in 2003 are inventory write-
offs of approximately $7.2 million for discontinued liquid products
and approximately $18 million of outside consulting expenses
resulting from the corrective action plan at the USHP plants.

The Company’s corrective action plan for the Baltimore plant,
provided in response to the FDA inspection observation ("Form
483") was submitted to the FDA in October 2002. In 2003,
approximately $21.0 million (of which $12.9 million was for exter-
nal resources) was spent on corrective actions, In January 2004,
the FDA re-inspected Baltimore and issued a Form 483 with sig-
nificantly less observations than in the 2002 inspection. The cor-
rective action plan in Baltimore will require additional compliance
expenditures in 2004 of approximately $5.3 million. The Company
expects to be substantially complete with the Baltimore corrective
action plan by the end of 2004.



The Company’s corrective action plan for the Elizabeth plant
provided in response to a Form 483 received in January 2003
required expenditures of $13.3 million {of which $5.2 million
was for external resources). in December 2003, the FDA issued
a Form 483 and the Company-has responded with a plan which
will require approximately $2.0 million of external expenditures.
The corrective actions are expected to be substantially complete
by mid 2004.

The increase in gross margin dollars results primarily from price
increases in AP, higher USHP brand revenues, and positive cur-
rency effects in IG, partially offset by volume reductions, inventory
write-offs and corrective action costs incurred by USHP and lower
IG and AH pricing.

> Selling, General and Administrative Expense ("SG&A")
On a consolidated basis, selling, general and administrative

expenses increased $18.5 million (6%) in 2003 as compared

to 2002. The increase is primarily attributable to translation of

foreign currencies into the U.S. dollar. In addition, other increases
include higher USHP marketing costs for branded products, and
increased corporate costs for professional fees and consulting.
2003 includes the reduction of AH operating expenses by $2.7
miflion for a business interruption insurance recovery.

> Research and Development Expense (“R&D”)

Research and development expenses decreased $3.9 million
in 2003 due to the timing of clinical studies, mainly by USHP and
planned reductions by AH. Remediation efforts by USHP personnel
has also-fowered R&D by shifting resources to corrective actions.

> Asset Impairments and Other

2003 included asset impairments and other of $8.7 million
of severance charges incurred in connection with the Company’s
reorganization and refocus efforts. 2002 included asset impair-
ments and other of $155.1 million which relate primarily to the
AH division. (See Identified Transactions, 2002.)

> Operating Income

Operating income increased by $128.6 million. The Company believes the change in operating income can be approximated as follows:

1G API USHP AH  Unallocated Total

2002 $25.8 $38.9 $ 66.3 $(120.9) $(343) $@24.2)
2002 identified transactions:
Cost of sales — — 5.4 6.4 — 11.8
Asset impairment and other 8.1 1 — 145.7 1.2 155.1
2003 severance QD 3 2.5) 3.8 — ®.7
Profit sharing income — — 9.1 — ©.1D —
Net margin improvement (decrease) due to volume,

price, new products, foreign exchange and expenses 26y 270 39.9 .3 (7.3 (29.6)
2003 : §29.270 8657 (U838 % 201

IG's operating income increased due to lower expenses and
impairment charges, foreign currency translation, and increased
volume offset by decreased pricing. API operating income
increased primarily due to price increases. USHP declined due to
increased compliance costs and lower generic sales offset partially
by increased brand volume, profit sharing income, and to a lesser
extent, pricing. Excluding charges in 2002, AH decreased primarily
due to lower pricing. Unallocated includes corporate expenses for
administration, finance, legal and certain unallocated expenses pri-
marily related to the implementation of 3 company-wide Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) System and increased due to higher pro-
fessional fees and increased amortization of ERP expenses.

TREO3)  §i0AA]

> Interest Expense and Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs

Interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs
decreased $12.6 million to $63.6 million in 2003 due to decreased
debt Jevels and lower interest rates versus a year ago. The
issuance of 8%4% Senior Notes replacing the 12%% senior sub-
ordinated notes in April 2003 has contributed to lower interest
expense. Amortization of debt issuance costs was approximately
$3.9 million and $4.7 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
write-off of $6.2 million of debt issuance costs in connection with
the issuance of the 8%% Notes contributed to the reduction in
amortization.
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> Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net was $12.4 million income in
2003 compared to $(2.9) million expense in 2002. 2003 results
include net foreign exchange gains of $2.5 million, $9.1 million of
income from a profit sharing agreement by USHP and $1.2 million
of income associated with an insurance recovery. 2002 results
include foreign exchange losses of $5.3 million. Foreign exchange
gains in 2003 resulted from the weakening of the U.S. dollar ver-
sus European and Latin American currencies. In 2002, the foreign
exchange losses resutted from the strengthening of the U.S. dollar
versus European and Latin American currencies. A detail of Other
income (expense), net follows:

Years Ended December 31, , 2003 ‘I 2002

Other income (expense), net: ’ J
Interest income 5 61 $14
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net i 25 1 (53
Litigation/Insurance settlements 1.2 ‘, 6
Income from WYNCO, carried at equity i 3 1.0
Other, net g {1.3) { 6
Profit sharing income P91 —

> Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $29.1 million in 2003
compared to $52.9 million in 2002. The 2003 loss resulted from
the extinguishment of $200 million 12'4% notes and the related
issuance of $220 million of 8%% notes. The extinguishment
resulted in the expensing of $22.2 million in placement fees and
$6.2 million of deferred debt expense.

In 2002 the Company incurred approximately $52.9 million
of expense for two exchanges of common stock for $110 million
of convertible debt and write-off of deferred debt expense due to
reductions of credit lines and repayment of debt. (See de-leveraging
activities included in 2002 identified transactions.)

> Tax Provision

The tax provision in 2003 was an expense of $1.6 million
compared to pre-tax income of $24.1 million. The effective tax
rate of 6.5% results mainly from the tax benefit on the $28.4
million expense from debt extinguishment at the incremental
U.S. federal and state rate of approximately 39% while using
an approximate 24% effective rate for all other income.

The Company has recorded certain U.S. deferred tax assets
for which it has provided no valuation allowances. These U.S.
deferred tax assets, as well as any newly generated deferred tax
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assets are evaluated quarterly to assess the likelihood of realiza-
tion, which is uftimately dependent upon generating future U.S.
taxable income prior to the expiration of the net operating loss
carryforwards. If it were considered to be more likely than not
that the U.S. deferred tax assets would not be realized, a valua-
tion allowance would be established against some or all of the
deferred tax assets.

As a resuft of the Company’s assessment of its net U.S. deferred
tax assets of $25.9 million at December 31. 2003, based upon cer-
tain available tax planning strategies, the Company considers it
more likely than not that these net U.S. deferred tax assets will be
realized in the future and therefore, no valuation allowance was
required at December 31, 2003. Should it be determined in the
future that it is no longer more likely than not that these assets
will be realized, a valuation allowance would be required and the
Company's operating results would be adversely affected during
the period in which such determination would be made.

> Results of Continuing Operations 2002 vs. 2001
(All earnings per share amounts are diluted)

Maost comparisons of 2002 consolidated results are affected by
the Company’s acquisition in December of 2001 of the Faulding
Oral Pharmaceuticals business ("OPB acquisition”} and the financ-
ing required to complete the acquisition.

Comparisons of 2002 consolidated results are also affected
by the Company’s adoption of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 142 (“SFAS 142") effective January 1, 2002 which states that
goodwill is no longer subject to amortization, but will be subject
to periodic testing for impairment. The full year of 2001 includes
approximately $18.3 million of goodwill amortization expense
which was not included in 2002 (approximately $.36 per share
diluted for the year).

Total revenue increased $261 million (27.0%) to $1,230.8 mil-
lion in the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to 2001 due
primarily to the OPB acquisition, which increased revenue by
$261.2 million (26.9%). The Company reported an operating loss
of ($24.2) million compared to operating income of $26.0 million
in 2001 due primarily to asset impairment and other charges of
$155.1 million, offset by net increases in operating income from
operations and various other factors described in operating
income (loss) below. The Company recorded a net loss of $99.7
million ($2.00 per share) in 2002 compared to a net loss of $37.7
million ($.92 per share) in 2001. Net losses in 2002 and 2001 also
include significant charges for exchanges of common stock for
debt and other debt reductions.



A summary and analysis of operating revenues by segment is
as follows:

Revenues
Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001  Inc. (Dec) %
IG $ 3196 82572 $ 624 243%
APL 83.6 74.4 9.2 12.4%
USHP 507.9 306.4 201.5 65.8%
Total 911.1 638.0 2731 42.8%
AH 3219 335.3 13.4) “Go%
Unallocated 2.2 4.0 1.8
$1,230.8  $969.3 $261.5 27.0%

Revenues in 1G increased 11.5%, excluding both $17.4 million
increase due to translation of currencies into the U.S. dollar and
$15.3 million due to the inclusion of OPB-China. The organic growth
in 1G revenues resulted from volume increases, (approximately 23%
in total), in the UK and other markets for base and new products
(including Omeprazole in the UK) offset partially by price declines,
(approximately 11% in total), primarily in the UK. Pricing in the
UK is below 2001 levels and remains highly competitive. In 2002,
legislation was adopted in Germany which also had the effect of
lowering pricing.

Revenues in APl increased 12.4% compared to 2001 primarily
due to volume increases in Vancomycin and Amphotericin,

Revenues in USHP increased due to the inclusion of the OPB-U.S.
(3245.9 million), which was acquired in December 2001, Revenues
in the liquid and topical business declined due to the recall of two

“products in the first quarter andthe effects of regulatory compli-

ance activities at the Baltimore plant. Certain wholesale customers
have levels of inventory that generally range from 2-6 months for
alt products, with a majority at the lower end of the range. One
major wholesaler customer typically holds up to 5 months inven-
tory for certain products. These inventory levels have remained
consistent, however, in the event that customers reduce inventory
fevels in the future, the Company’s revenues could be adversely
impacted. Revenues will also be adversely impacted in future quar-
ters by the FDA regulatory compliance activities at the Baltimore
and Elizabeth plant. (See Gross Profit below and Note 18.)

AH revenues declined modestly overall for the year. However,
both year’s results were impacted by special circumstances.
Revenues for the first six months of 2001 totaled $201.4 million
and included approximately $38.0 million in revenue related to
the financial statement revision which modified the timing of
revenue recognition from the time an order was segregated in
a third party warehouse and billed, to when the order was deliv-
ered. The second six months of 2001 revenues totaled $133.9
million and reflected a change in business practices which

reduced the use of certain sales incentives and extended payment
terms. The first six months of 2002 revenues were $149.0 million
which reflect the lowering of inventories in the distribution system
and market acceptance of payment terms of net 30 days. The
second half of 2002 revenues were $172.9 million. Generally,
there is a seasonal increase in this business during the second hatf
of the year.

> Gross Profit

On a company-wide basis, gross profit increased $147.4 mil-
lion, and as a percentage of sales, overall gross profit was 42.7%
in 2002, compared 10 39.0% in 2001. The increase in gross profit
reflects increases for the inclusion of OPB and volume increases in
IG’s UK business being offset partially by lower pricing in 1G, and
volume declines in the liquids business of USHP. USHP gross mar-
gins were negatively impacted by the production slowdowns
related to the first quarter 2002 product recalls and other corrective
actions in response to the FDA inspection at its Baltimore plant.

> Selling, General and Administrative Expense ("SGA”")

On a consolidated basis, SGA expense increased $72.1 million
and approximately $90.4 miltion excluding the effect of goodwill
amortization. The increase is primarily attributable to the inclusion
of OPB operations, increased expenses related to the implementa-
tion of a company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning system (a
“ERP system”) (primarily included in unallocated), increased per-
sonnel costs including accruals for incentive compensation in
2002 and higher insurance costs.

> Research and Development Expense (“R&D")

On a consolidated basis, R&D expense increased $18.1
million. The increase is primarily attributable to the inclusion of
QPB operations.

> Asset Impairments and Other

Asset impairments and other were $155.1 miltion in 2002 as
compared to $10.1 million in 2001, and are described in “Identified
Transactions, 2002 and 2001."

> Purchased In-process R&D
In connection with the 2001 purchase of the OPB, the
Company expensed $37.7 million of in-process R&D.

> Operating Income {Loss)

Operating income decreased by $50.2 million and resulted
in a loss in 2002 of $24.2 million. Comparison of 2002 to 2001
is complicated by the cessation of amortization for goodwill in

>page 13
Alphbarma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report




Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations cominues)

(In millions, except per share data)

2002, the financial statement revision and identified transactions in both years. (See “Identified Transactions, 2002” and “identified
Transactions, 2001.") The following represents a bridge between 2001 and 2002. The Company believes the change in operating income

can be approximated as follows:

1G API USHP AH  Unallocated Total

2001 $12.0 $32.2 $(18.9) % 236 $(22.9)  $ 260
Adjustment for goodwill amortization 11.7 1 2.4 41 — 18.3
2001 identified transactions

Cost of Sales — — 1.7 8.7 — 10.4

Asset Impairments and SGA 3.4 8 4.9 1.0 3.3 13.4

In-process R&D — — 37.7 — — 37.7
2002 identified transactions

Cost of Sales — — 6.4 6.9 — 11.8)

Asset Impairment and other 3.1 1D — (145.7) (1.2) a55.1
2001 financial statement revision — — — 229 —_ (22.9)
Net margin improvement (decrease) due to volume, price,

new products, acquisition and expenses 6.8 5.9 439 16.7 (13.5) 59.8
2002 $258  $389 $663  $(120.9) 8343 $4.2)

IG's net margin improvement is due to increased volume in > Other Income (Expense), Net
a number of markets, offset by lower pricing. API's net margin Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001
improvement is due primarily to increased volume in Vancomycin Other income (expense), net:
and Amphotericin. USHP’s improvement is due to the OPB acquisi- Interest income $ 14§ 35
tion offset by lower volume in liquids due to regulatory compliance Foreign e)fchange losses, net 53  GH
vities, AM | +is due 16 volume incre in th Litigation/insurance settlerents 6 21

activities. 3 lmprovem.en IS Gue 10 volume increases In the Income from joint venture carried at equity 1.0 8
second half of 2002 relative to 2001. Corporate and unallocated Investment write-off - @5
expenses increased due to expenses related to the implementation Other, net & 1D
of a company-wide ERP system, including amortization of capital- $ 29 $ 06
ized cc?sts cgmmencmg in April 200;, and increased personnel Expense for conversion of convertible
costs, including incentive compensation, as management person- notes, early extinguishment of debt and
nel were changed and positions were added. reduction of line of credit $(52.9  $(11.0)

> Interest Expense

Interest expense was $76.2 million in 2002 compared to $51.5
million in 2001. The increase results from debt incurred to finance
the OPB acquisition which was partially offset by debt paydowns
from free cash flow, lower interest rates in 2002 and reduced inter-
est expenses on convertible notes which were exchanged for
common stock in March 2002.
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> Provision (Benefit) For Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes in 2002 as a percent-
age of pre-tax income was approximately (40.1%) as compared
to (1.5%) in 2001. The major component in 2001 which reduced
the effective benefit was reduced as a result of the non-deductible
write-off of in-process R&D of $37.7 million recorded in the OPB
acquisition. Footnote 15 to the financial statements presents an
analysis of the effective tax rate.



> Identified Transactions, 2002

The following is a summary of the identified transactions for
2002 which have affected the results of the Company. By identifying
the transactions, the Company is attempting to facilitate an under-
standing of its results. The majority of the transaction types have
happened in the past two years and could recur in the next two
years. The following table summarizes the identified transactions:

2002 identified Transactions

Corporate
HPI  USHP AH  and Other Toral
Cost of sales $ — $64 $ 6D $ — $Q1®
Asset impairments
and other 8.1 — (145.7) 1.3  assn
Other income
(expense), net — — — (52.9) 52.9

A discussion of the identified transactions follows:

HP!, primarily within the IG segment, incurred asset impair-
ment and other charges of approximately $8.1 million consisting
of severance charges of approximately $1.7 miltion and impair-
ment losses of $6.4 million relating to product lines in Germany
which, as part of the 2003 plan process, were determined to be
impaired and were written down.

USHP incurred charges of approximately $5.4 million in con-
nection with the OPB acquisition on December 12, 2001, which
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141 "Business Combinations” was accounted for by the pur-
chase method. Required adjustments for purchase accounting
included a step-up of finished goods inventory of $7.1 million of
which $1.7 mifiion was expensed as the acquired inventory was
sold in December 2001 and the remaining balance of $5.4 million
as the inventory was sold in the first quarter of 2002.

AH incurred charges of approximately $152.1 million in 2002
in connection with changes in response to and in anticipation of
major challenges in the marketplace and in the way the business
will be managed in the future. The AH business, which is in low or
no growth competitive markets, will be repositioned to enhance
working capital management and cash flow. AH management
was changed; there were reductions in work force at closed plant
sites; and positions were eliminated in a number of functions,
resufting in severance charges of approximately $3.8 million. AH
announced the closing of four facilities which resulted in write-
downs and exit costs of $45.2 million (consisting of $40.2 million of
asset impairments and $5.0 million of cost of sales). AH announced
an impairment charge of $37.1 million (including $1.4 million of
cost of sales) for certain tangible and intangible assets related to
an AH product, Reporcin. New competitive entrants combined
with significant price pressure resulted in lower forecasted cash

flows and a change in strategy to cash generation from growth
through new products and technologies and through interna-
tional market expansion. The lower forecasted cash flows trig-
gered an impairment of all AH goodwill totaling $66.0 million.

Corporate includes severance charges for management reor-
ganization of $1.3 million, $51.1 million of charges related to the
exchange of convertible debt in the first quarter of 2002, (348.0
million), write-off of deferred loan costs due to the reduction of
the credit line by $150 million ($3.2 million), and charges result-
ing from the early extinguishment of debt of $1.8 million.

> ldentified Transactions, 2001

The following is a summary of the identified transactions for
2001, which affected the results of the Company. The summary
has been prepared to facilitate understanding of these results. The
majority of transaction types have cccurred in the past two years
and could occur in future years.

Year 2001 versus 2000
2001 Identified Transactions

Reorganiza-

OPB De-  tion/Refocus
Acquisition  leveraging & Other Total
Cost of sales $ 7D $ — $(87) 3104
Selling, general & admin. ©.5) — 39 Q34
In-process R&D G7.7 — — 37.7)
Interest expense 8.4 — — (8.4)

Other income

(expense), net 4.5) 8.9 04 Q38

A discussion of each of these 2001 identified transactions follows.

> OPB Acquisition
OPB Financing

in July 2001, the Company signed a definitive purchase agree-
ment to acquire the OPB of Faulding Limited from Mayne Nickless
Limited ("Mayne") subject to Mayne's completion of a tender
offer for Faulding. The Company was required to make a $145.0
million escrow deposit in July. In October, the Company obtained
management control of OPB, subject to certain limitations. In
October, to fund the $660.0 million purchase price to Mayne, the
Company released the $145.0 million escrow, paid an additionat
$255.0 million and provided a $260.0 million letter of credit. in
December the acquisition closed and the letter of credit was
funded. The OPB is included in the Company’s results from
December 12, 2001, the date of acguisition. The identified
transactions include the interest expense and letter of credit fees
related to the prepayments during the July-December period of
$8.4 million and a charge of $2.3 million included in other, net
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for bank fees primarily for the bridge financing, net of interest
income on the escrow deposit.

The new financing required for the OPB resulted in the repay-
ment and termination of the 1999 Credit Facility. The write-off of
the bank fees related to the early extinguishment of debt of $2.2
million is also included with the identified transactions.

Purchase Accounting

The OPB acquisition closed on December 12, 2001 and in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141 "Business Combinations” was accounted for by the pur-
chase method. Required adjustments for purchase accounting
included a step-up of finished goods inventory of $7.1 million of
which $1.7 million was expensed as the acquired inventory was
sold in December 2001. The remaining balance of $5.4 million
was expensed in the first quarter of 2002. The most significant
adjustment required by purchase accounting was the valuation
and write-off of in-process research and development (*IPR&D").
IPR&D was valued at $37.7 million and was written off without a
tax benefit (as required) resulting in a reduction of EPS of $.92.
IPR&D was valued based on forecasted after-tax cash flows for
each potential R&D product adjusted for charges for core technol-
ogy and use of existing assets. The resultant cash flows were dis-
counted at 15.4% and subsequently reduced for a risk adjustment
factor dependent on the probability of achieving the cash flows
and, in certain instances, the favorable outcome of litigation.

Combination of OPB with USPD and
Otber Acquisition Expenses

Upon acquisition, the OPB was combined with the USPD to
create U.S. Human Pharmaceuticals. The combination resulted in
severance charges of $4.8 million related to USPD employees. In
addition, the 1G business commenced the closure of its Copenhagen
Research Facility resulting in severance of approximately $1.5 mil-
lion. The Company intends to conduct its oral solid research at
the OPB facilities.

in the first half of 2001, the Company incurred acquisition
expenses for professional and consulting services of $3.3 million
related to the OPB.

The combination of the transactions identified with the OPB
acquisition resulted in a net loss of $52.4 million or $1.28 per share.

> De-leveraging Activities

The Company significantly increased its debt in connection
with the OPB acquisition. The credit facilities entered into in con-
nection with the acquisition of OPB and the refinancing of existing
debt contain various financial covenants, operating restrictions
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and require the repayment of debt on a scheduled basis. The
Company is in compliance with all of the terms of the credit facili-
ties and believes it will be able to comply in the future. In order to
ensure continued compliance and increase flexibility under the
agreements, the Company intends to continue to de-leverage.
Toward this goal, the Company has adopted a comprehensive de-
leveraging plan, which includes aggressive expense, capital spend-
ing and working capital controls and possible sale of assets. The
Company has continued to pursue these alternatives to further
reduce debt. {See "Liquidity and Capital Resources” for 2002
de-leveraging activities.)

In December 2001, the Company exchanged $34.1 million of
5.75% subordinated debentures for approximately 1.5 million
shares of Class A common stock and recorded a non-cash expense
of $7.4 million. Additionally, in December 2001, the Company
repaid term loans of $65.0 million and recorded a charge for early
extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million. The sum of these 2001
de-leveraging activities resulted in a loss of approximately $6.8
miflion ($.17 per share).

> Reorganization, Refocus and Other Transactions
Animal Health

In the fourth quarter 2001, the Company changed manage-
ment in its Animal Health business. The change in management
resulted in severance charges of $1.1 million. New management
began a review of current projects and decided to discontinue
support of certain projects including the commercialization of the
Optibreed product. This decision resulted in a charge for disposal
of Optibreed inventory of $8.7 million.

HPI

The combination of IG and AP resulted in severance charges
of $2.8 miltion.

Otber Items

Other identified transactions, which net to $.4 million of
expense include income of $2.1 million from the settlement of
vitamin litigation in the Animal Health business in the second
quarter 2001 offset by the write-off of investments of $2.5 mil-
lion including an equity position in the Company which manufac-
tured the Optibreed product.

The sum of the reorganization, refocus and other transactions
is a loss, net of taxes, of $7.9 million ($.19 per share).

> Inflation
The effect of inflation on the Company’s operations during
2003, 2002 and 2001 was not significant.



> Critical Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are presented on the
basis of accounting principles that are generally accepted in the
United States of America. All professional accounting standards
that are effective as of December 31, 2003, have been taken into
consideration in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
The Company has chosen to highlight certain policies that it con-
siders critical to the operations of the business and understanding
its consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk of loss
are transferred to customers. Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries
have terms of FOB shipping point where title and risk of loss trans-
fer on shipment. Certain subsidiaries have terms FOB destination
where title and risk of loss transfer on delivery. In the case of FOB
destination, revenue is not recognized until products are received
by the customer. Additional conditions for recognition of revenue
are that collection of sales proceeds is reasonably assured and the
Company has no further performance obligations.

In the Company’s U.S. Human Pharmaceutical business, and to
a lesser extent in Human Pharmaceuticals—international, sales
to certain customers require that the Company remit discounts to
either customers or governmental authorities in the form of
rebates, chargebacks, price adjustments, discounts, premotional
allowances, or other managed care reserves. Additionally, sales
are generally made with a limited right of return under certain
conditions. The Company estimates these rebates, chargebacks,
price adjustments, discounts, promotional allowances, managed
care reserves and estimated returns at the time of sale based on
a variety of factors, including actual return experience, rebate
agreements with customers and estimated sales by our wholesale
customers to other third parties who have contracts with us and
recognizes revenue net of these estimated costs. Actual experi-
ence associated with any of these items may differ materially from
estimates. Provisions are reflected either as a direct reduction to
accounts receivable or, to the extent that they are due to entities
other than customers, as accrued expenses. The reserve balances
relative to these provisions included in “Accounts receivables,
net” and “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” in the
accompanying Consclidated Balance Sheet totaled $64.7 million
and $82.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003 and $65.9
million and $73.2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2002. The
Company continually monitors the adequacy of procedures used
to estimate these reductions by comparison of estimated reduc-
tions to actual reductions.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company has completed several acquisitions since 1998,
which have generated significant amounts of goodwill and intan-
gible assets and related amortization. The values assigned to
goodwill and intangibles, as well as their related usefut lives, are
subject to judgment and estimation by the Company. In addition,
in 2002, upon adoption of SFAS 142, the Company ceased amor-
tization of goodwill and reviewed goodwill upon transition and at
each year-end for impairment.

Goodwilt and intangibles related to acquisitions are determined
based on purchase price allocations. These allocations, including
an assessment of estimated useful lives, have generally been per-
formed by qualified independent appraisers using reasonable val-
uation methodologies. Valuation of intangible assets is generally
based on the estimated cash flows related to those assets, while
the value assigned to goodwill is the residual of the purchase
price over the fair value of all identifiable assets acquired and
liabifities assumed. Useful lives are determined based on the
expected future period of benefit of the asset, the assessment
of which considers various characteristics of the asset, including
historical cash flows.

Asset Impairments

Long-lived assets, including plant and equipment, and other
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or
circumstances indicate that a diminution in value may have
occurred, based on a comparison of undiscounted future cash
flows to the carrying amount of the goodwill or intangible asset.
If the carrying amount exceeds undiscounted future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recorded based on the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Goodwill is
reviewed annually for impairment in accordance with SFAS 142.

The assessment of potential impairment for a particular asset
or set of assets requires certain judgments and estimates by the
Company, including the determination of an event indicating
impairment; the future cash flows to be generated by the asset,
including the estimated life of the asset and likelihood of alterna-
tive courses of action; the risk associated with those cash flows;
and the Company’s cost of capital or discount rate to be utilized.
In the case of asset or business divestitures the difficulty of assess-
ing a potential impairment is intensified. The sale of a business or
asset is not assured regardless of the intention of the Company
until an unrelated third party and the Company reach a mutually
acceptable agreement. While both parties can genuinely want an
agreement, no divestiture is probable until a final agreement has
been negotiated and signed.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations continuea

(In millions, except per share data)

The Company has certain assets not presently fully utilized for
production which are expected to be operational in 2005. These
under utilized or idle assets also require judgment in determining
their probable future cash flows. Presently the value is expected to
be recovered. If plans for use materially change an impairment
charge could be required.

Research and Development (“R&D”),
Including In-process R&ED (“IPRED”)

The Company's products are subject to regulation by govern-
mental authorities, principally the Food and Drug Administration
("FDA") in the United States and equivalent authorities in interna-
tional markets. Research and development expenses are charged
to the consolidated statement of operations when incurred, as
the Company considers that regulatory and other uncertainties
inherent in the development of new products preclude it from
capitalizing development costs.

With respect to completed acquisitions, acquired products or
projects which have achieved technical feasibility, signified by FDA
or comparable regulatory body approval, are capitalized as intan-
gible assets because it is probable that the costs will give rise to
future economic benefits, Estimates of the values of these intangi-
ble assets are subject to the estimation process described in
“Goodwill and Intangible Assets” above.

Acguired products or projects which have not achieved techni-
cal feasibility (i.e., regulatory approval) are charged to the statement
of operations on the date of acquisition. In connection with its
acquisitions, the Company generally utilizes independent appraisers
in the determination of IPR&D charges. The amount of this charge
is determined based on a variety of factors including the estimated
future cash flows of the product ar project, the likelihood of future
benefit from the product or project, and the level of risk associ-
ated with future research and development activities related to
the product or project.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, Cost
is determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all inventories. The
determination of market value to compare to cost involves assess-
ment of numerous factors, including costs to dispose of inventory
and estimated selling prices. Inventories determined to be dam-
aged, obsolete, or otherwise unsaleable are written down to net
realizable value.

The Company aiso purchases raw materials, and manufactures
finished goods, for certain products prior to the product receiving
regulatory approval or during a period when the product is sub-
ject to litigation. The Company reviews these inventories on a
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case by case basis, and records a write-down of the inventory if it
becomes probable that requlatory approval will not be obtained,
litigation will be resolved unfavorably, or the inventory’s cost will
not be recoverable based on other factors.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides a range of benefits to employees
and retired employees, including pension, postretirement, post-
employment and health care benefits. The Company records
annual amounts relating to these pians based on calculations,
which include various actuarial assumptions, including discount
rates, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turnover
rates, and health care cost and trend rates. The Company reviews
its actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifica-
tions to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when
it is deemed appropriate to do so. The effect of the modifications is
generally recorded and amortized over future periods. The Company
believes that the assumptions utilized for recording its cbligations
under its plans are reasonable based on input from actuaries.

Litigation and Contingencies

The Company is subject to litigation in the ordinary course
of business, and also to certain other contingencies (see item 3
of this Form 10-K and Note 18 to the financial statements}. The
Company records legal fees and other expenses related to litiga-
tion and contingencies as incurred. Additionally, the Company
assesses, in consultation with its counsel, the need to record liabil-
ity for litigation and contingencies on a case by case basis. Reserves
are recorded when the Company, in consultation with counsel,
determines that a loss related to a matter is both probable and
reasonably estimable.

Income Taxes

The Company applies an asset and liability approach to
accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax liabilities and assets
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of tem-
porary differences between the financial statement and tax bases
of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the
year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The recover-
ability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company's
assessment that it is more likely than not that sufficient future
taxable income will be generated in the relevant tax jurisdiction
to utilize the deferred tax asset. In the event the Company deter-
mines that future taxable income will not be sufficient to utilize
the deferred tax asset, a valuation allowance is recorded. The
Company’s valuation allowance principally relates to net operating
loss carryforwards in certain state and foreign jurisdictions with
little or no history of generating taxable income.




The Company has recorded certain U.S. deferred tax assets for
which it has provided no valuation allowances. These U.S. deferred
tax assets, as well as any newly generated deferred tax assets, are
evaluated quarterly to assess the likelihood of realization, which is
ultimately dependent upon generating future U.S. taxable income
prior to the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards. if it
were considered to be more likely than not that the U.S. deferred
tax assets would not be realized, a valuation allowance would be
established against some or all of the deferred tax assets.

As a result of the Company's assessment of its net U.S.
deferred tax assets of approximately $26 million at December 31,
2003, based upon certain available tax planning strategies, the
Company considers it more likely than not that these net U.S.
deferred tax assets will be realized in the future and therefore, no
valuation allowance was required at December 31, 2003. Should
it be determined in the future that it is no longer more fikely
than not that these assets will be realized, a valuation allowance
would be required and the Company’s operating results would be
adversely affected during the period in which such determination
would be made.

The Company is considering a number of asset divestitures. It
is possible that certain divestitures will result in a loss for tax and
book purposes. Depending on the jurisdiction in which the loss
occurs and the size of the loss it is possible that certain potential
losses will require a valuation allowance for a portion of all of the
deferred tax benefit recorded.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2003, stockholders’ equity was $1,135.1
million compared to $1,001.8 million and $889.8 million at
December 31, 2002, and 2001, respectively. The ratio of long-
term debt to equity was .69:1, .85:1 and 1.16:1 at December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in stockholders’
equity in 2003 resuits primarily from the translation of foreign
currencies into the U.S. dollar. At December 31, 2002, the Company
had an accumulated other comprehensive loss of $20.1 million.
At December 31, 2003, due primarily to the weakening of the
U.S. dollar against many other currencies, the Company has other
comprehensive income of $95.8 million. The increase in stock-
holders' equity in 2002 mainly represents the exchanges of con-
vertible notes to equity and miscellaneous equity issuances totaling
$142.7 millicn and $78.3 million of other comprehensive income
primarily due to a positive currency translation adjustment reflect-
ing the weakening in 2002 of the U.S. dollar, offset by a net loss
of $99.7 million, and dividends of $9.2 million. The increase in
stockholders’ equity in 2001 represents equity issuances primarily
due to exchanges of convertible debentures for common stock

offset by the 2001 net loss and a negative currency translation
adjustment. In 2001, long-term debt increased to finance the OPB
acquisition. In 2002, the Company reduced !ong-term debt by
approximately $181.0 million due to exchange of convertible
debentures for equity and repayment of $86.0 million of long-
term debt, principally with funds from operating cash flow. In
2003 long-term debt was reduced by $65.0 million due to repay-
ments from operating cash flow.

Working capital at December 31, 2003, was $337.8 million com-
pared to $292.8 million and $317.5 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively. Working capital is defined as current assets
less current liabilities. The current ratio was 1.96:1 at December 31,
2003 compared to 1.77:1 and 1.92:1 at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Cash flow from operations in 2003 was $157.0 million com-
pared to $162.2 million and $119.4 million in 2002 and 2001,
respectively. 2003 cash flows reflect net income of $16.9 million,
non-cash expenses for depreciation, amortization and interest
accretion totaling $105.3 million. Cash flow from operations in
2003 was negatively impacted by $22.2 million in debt placement
fees paid in connection with the issuance of Senior Notes in the
second quarter. Better working capital management and other
items make up the balance of the cash provided by operating
activities in 2003. 2002 cash flows reflected the generally non-
cash nature of charges incurred in 2002. Both the asset write-
downs and the debt reduction required substantial non-cash
charges. 2001 cash flow reflected the non-cash nature of a num-
ber of items which contributed to the net loss for the year. The
$37.7 million IPR&D charge, the inventory write-offs of $17.8 mil-
lion, and the $7.4 miilion charge on exchange of the convertible
debentures for Class A common stock are significant non-cash
charges. In 2003, accounts receivable balances increased $12.4
million, net of foreign currency, compared to 2002. This resuited
in an increase in days sales outstanding of approximately 68 days
in 2003 versus 63 days in 2002, principally due to the geographic
mix of business. Since 2002, the Company has emphasized accounts
receivable management company-wide. This emphasis has gener-
ally yielded positive results, although not all customers follow
stated terms and disputes can slow collection. The Company
reduced accounts receivable balances in 2002 and 2001 com-
pared to the preceding years by $27.3 million and $26.6 million,
respectively. The change in marketing strategy in AH, which reduced
the use of sales incentives including terms, in the fourth quarter
of 2001 resulted in approximately $17 million of the 2002 decline.
The emphasis on accounts receivable management, mentioned
above, also contributed {o these declines.
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Balance sheet amounts increased as of December 31, 2003
compared to December 2002 in U.S. Dollars as the functional
currencies of the Company’s principal foreign subsidiaries, the
Norwegian Krone, Danish Krone, the Euro, and British Pound,
appreciated versus the U.S. Dotlar by approximately 4%, 20%,
20% and 11%, respectively. These increases in balance sheet
amounts impact 1o some degree the above mentioned ratios.
The approximate increase due to currency translation of selected
captions was: accounts receivable $11.6 million, inventories $17.2
million, accounts payable and accrued expenses $11.0 million,
and total stockholders’ equity $113.1 million. The $113.1 million
increase in stockholders' equity is included in other comprehen-
sive income for the year and results from the weakening of the
U.S. Dollar in 2003 against all major functional currencies of the
Company's foreign subsidiaries.

fn 2003, the Company’s capital expenditures including expen-
ditures for purchased dossiers and for a Company-wide ERP sys-
tem were $47.9 million. In 2004, the Company plans 1o spend up
1o $70.0 million. The Company has approved a number of capital
projects including the construction of an additional API capacity in
Copenhagen, and a company-wide information technology proj-
ect, which is expected to require additional capital expenditures
of approximately $3.0 miilion through 2004.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had $58.6 miltion in cash
and available short-term fines of credit of approximately $14.7 mil-
fion and $140.0 million available under its 2001 Credit Facility.

A portion of the Company's short-term and long-term debt is
at variable interest rates. The 2001 Credit Facility requires the
Company to enter into swaps such that interest is fixed on 50%
of its debt. At December 31, 2003, the Company has one out-
standing interest rate agreement to fix interest rates for $100.0
million of its variable rate debt to minimize the impact of future
changes in interest rates. The Company's policy is to selectively
enter into standard agreements to fix interest rates for existing
debt if it is deemed prudent.

in the fourth quarter of 2001 the Company completed the
acquisition of the Faulding Oral Pharmaceuticals Business (“OPB”)
and entered into a $300 million credit facility (2001 Credit Facility”)
to finance the acquisition and replace its previous credit agree-
ment. The 2001 Credit Facility includes covenants that require it
to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy financial condi-
tions consisting of a maximum total leverage ratio test, a maxi-
mum senior secured leverage ratio test, a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratic test, a minimum interest coverage ratio test and a
minimum net worth test. A breach of any of these covenants, if
not cured or waived, could result in a default under the 2001
Credit Facility. If an event of default under the 2001 Credit Facility
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occurs, the lenders under these facilities could elect to declare alt
amounts outstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest,
1o be immediately due and payable. The calculation of EBITDA,
as defined in the credit facility, on a rolling four quarter basis is
important to many of these tests. Certain of these covenants
became more restrictive as of December 31, 2003 and will become
more restrictive at March 31, 2005. The Company is in comnpliance
with these covenants as of December 31, 2003.

Continued compliance with these financial covenants through-
out 2004 is dependent on the Company's EBITDA as defined by
the credit agreement, and therefore the Company’s ability to
generate increasing amounts of operating income, or on the
Company’s abitity to reduce the amount of its outstanding debt.
Since 2001, the Company has reduced the amount of its out-
standing debt and the size of the original facility by prepaying
term debt by $185.0 million and by lowering the revolving line
of credit by $150.0 million. On an overall basis, senior debt and
total debt at December 31, 2003 were $635.6 million and $817.2
miltion, respectively, compared 1o $520.2 million and $895.9 mil-
lion, respectively, at December 31, 2002. Included in senior debt
at December 31, 2003, was $220.0 million of Senior Notes,
which replaced debt previously classified as senior subordinated
notes (see Note 13 for further details).

The Company’s EBITDA, as defined, is affected most directly by
changes in operating income. Operating income in 2003 has been
negatively affected by compliance activities in two of USHP’s plants.
Significant corrective action costs have been incurred as a result of
the Company’s response to Form 483's issued by the FDA for the
Company’s Baltimore and Elizabeth plants. In addition, the correc-
tive action plans have resulted in fower production and significant
rationalization of the liquids product line at the Baltimore plant
and no new product introductions during 2003, from either plant.

Full year 2003 compliance costs amount to $34.4 million, of
which approximately $18.0 million relates to external consultants
(see Footnote 18 for further details). The additional internal
staffing levels are necessary to support the Company’s commit-
ment to FDA compliance and are expected to continue beyond
the corrective action period. External consulting costs declined
sequentially in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2003
and are expected to continue at the fourth quarter rate of
approximately $2 million into 2004.

It is the Company’s expectation that it will substantially com-
plete corrective actions in Elizabeth and Baltimore in 2004; subject
1o reviews by the FDA, The Company is preparing for possible
FDA re-inspections of both facilities.

During most of 2003, the Company's most restrictive debt
covenant was total debt to EBITDA (“Total Leverage Ratio”). This




covenant tightens from a required maximum ratio of 4.00 10 1.00
at December 31, 2003 to a required maximum ratio of 3.50 to
1.00 at March 31, 2005. The Company remains in compliance
with all its debt covenants at December 31, 2003, with approxi-
mately $40 million of EBITDA flexibility on its tightest covenant at
year-end, the Interest Coverage Ratio.

The Company has developed its business and financial pian
for 2004 and has evaluated its fiexibility in complying with each
of the financial covenants as part of this process. The Company
believes it has a number of options available to provide it with
increased financial flexibility, thereby ensuring continued compli-
ance with its covenants. Certain of these options are entirely
within the Company’s control and others require actions of the
bank group and/or a third party. In December 2003, the 2001
Credit facility was amended to allow for certain actions associ-
ated with the Company’s ability to achieve increased financial
flexibility. The amendment includes provisions enabling the
Company to sell certain assets, provides for additional flexibility
in the timing and application of certain financiat ratio tests, and
permits exclusions of certain restructuring charges and gains and
losses on potential divestitures of assets and businesses from the
calculation of EBITDA. Options include:

¢ Continued aggressive asset management, including both
working capital reduction programs and controls over capital
expenditures, to generate free cash flow to enable the Company
fo continue 1o repay outstanding debt. Capital expenditures
and purchased intangibles were $47.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 compared to $81.7 million the
year ended December 31, 2002. In 2004, capital expenditures
are forecasted at approximately $70 million.

* Continue to reduce operating costs. In the fourth quarter of
2003, the Company reviewed its overall business cost struc-
ture, which resulted in a reduction in force at each of its seg-
ments. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of
approximately $8.7 million related to this action. This charge
was partially offset by savings in the quarter. The Company
expects this work force reduction to generate annual cost sav-
ings of approximately $10.0 million in 2004 and $13.0 million
in subsequent years. The Company is evaluating other actions
to reduce its cost base in 2004 and beyond.

s Continue to sell certain assets. In 2003, the Company has sold
its French generics business and an Animal Health facility. The
Company racently engaged investment bankers to explore the
possible sale of certain other assets.

The potential divestiture of significant assets and businesses
are in the preliminary stages and none are subject to formal
agreements. It is possible that, if completed, certain of the
divestitures could resutt in losses of up to $100 miition. There
is no guarantee any divestiture will be completed. Due to its
improved liquidity in 2003, the Company is not under any
financial pressure to accept any offer which is not in its fong-
term interests. The potential divestitures could be dilutive to
the Company’s continuing earnings per share.

¢ Reduce subordinated convertible debt by issuing common
stock. At December 31, 2003, the Company has $181.6 mil-
lion of convertible subordinated notes outstanding that can be
retired by the exchange of common stock with approximately
the same fair value. In 2001 and 2002, the Company retired
$144.1 miliion of convertible debt by issuing approximately
8.2 million shares of Class A common stock.

The Company is required to repay or retire $24.2 million
of its 5%% convertible debentures by October 2004. The
Company is presently planning for the achievement of this
requirement based on a number of scenarios. The Company
expects to be successful in meeting this requirement.

e Obtaining amendments to the bank covenants to allow for
certain of the actions noted above and to provide additional
flexibility in the timing and application of the financial ratio
tests. In Qctober 2001, the Company borrowed $622.0 million
from the bank group and at December 31, 2003 the amount
outstanding is $380.9 million (a reduction of $241.1 million).
In the fourth quarter of 2003, the bank group agreed to an
amendment which allowed for specified asset sales, permitted
exclusions of restructuring and refinancing charges from
EBITDA of up to $10.0 million and the minimum net worth
definitions, and amended the leverage ratios to delay the tim-
ing of further covenant restrictions. The Company believes
that its performance in the reduction of the loan, and its previ-
ous experience in working with the bank group would assist it
in obtaining future amendments, if necessary.

While the Company cannot assure its success in executing any
of the above-noted actions or, where required in obtaining exter-
nal party consent, it will take the actions necessary to maintain
sufficient financial flexibility with its debt covenants and remain in
compliance throughout 2004,
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At December 31, 2003, the Company’s contractual cash obligations (in millions) can be summarized as follows:

Less than 1-3 45 More than
Contractual Cash Commitments Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-Term Debt
Senior and other $626.1 $25.4 $ 515 $304.5 $244.7
Convertible subordinated* 181.6 — 181.6 — —_
Operating leases 41.7 10.5 12.0 7.6 11.6
Purchase obligations 124.9 61.0 44.3 8.4 11.2
Total contractual cash commitments $974.3 $96.9 $289.4 $320.5 $267.5

*Can be settled in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at option of holder.

Under the terms of certain business and product acquisition agreements, the Company may be required to make additional payments
in future years upon the occurrence of specified events. Additionally, the Company has a number of conditional supply agreements which
obligate the Company to purchase products or services from vendors based on Company forecasts which are updated on a regular basis
and at prices subject to negotiation and change. Certain of the supply agreements may require minimum payments under certain circum-
stances if minimum quantities are not purchased. See Note 18 to the financial statements for additional information.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks

The Company’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctua-
tions due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. The Company’s risk management practice includes
the selective use, on a fimited basis, of forward foreign currency
exchange contracts and interest rate agreements. Such instru-
ments are used for purposes other than trading.

> Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign currency exchange rate movements create fluctuations
in U.S. Dollar reported amounts of foreign subsidiaries whose
local currencies are their respective functional currencies. The
Company has not used foreign currency derivative instruments to
manage translation fluctuations. The Company and its respective
subsidiaries primarily use forward foreign exchange contracts to
hedge certain cash flows denominated in currencies other than
the subsidiary’s functional currency. Such cash flows are normally
represented by actual receivables and payables and anticipated
receivables and payables for which there is a firm commitment.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had forward foreign
exchange contracts mainly denominated in Euros, Danish Krones,
Norwegian Krones, British Pounds and U.S. Dollars with a notional
amount of $118.5 million. The fair market value of such contracts
has been recognized in the financial statements and is not mate-
rial. All contracts expire in the first three quarters of 2004. The
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cash flows expected from the contracts will generally offset the
cash flows of related non-functional currency transactions. The
change in value of the foreign currency forward contracts result-
ing from a 10% movement in foreign currency exchange rates
would be less than $1.1 million and generally would be offset by
the change in value of the hedged receivable or payable. Such
contracts are not designated hedges for accounting purposes.
Alpharma’s interest rate risk relates primarily to long-term and
short-term debt which has variable interest rates and reset gener-
ally every three months. At December 31, 2003, the Company has
$380.9 million of variable rate U.S. Dollar debt under its 2001 Credit
Agreement. The 2001 Credit Agreement required the Company
have at least 50% of its total debt at fixed interest rates or have
interest rate protection with an initial average life of 3 years for
the amount of variable rate debt necessary to have fixed and
interest rate protected debt at least equal to 50% of total debt.
As required in early 2002, the Company entered into a standard
interest rate swap for three years for $100.0 million of debt. In
late 2002 and early 2003, the Company entered into interest rate
swaps for an additional $265.0 million to fix interest rates for
2003. The Company’s purpose was to fix rates to comply with the
credit facility and lock in interest rates for 2003. At December 31,
2003, only the $100.0 million interest rate swap is outstanding.




Consolidated Balance Sheet

(In thousands, except share data)

December 31, ‘ 2002
Assets
Current assets: P |
Cash and cash equivalents 3 : :‘458,623 $ 23872
Accounts receivable, net ‘ : 258,471 E 234,327
Inventories | 307,810 | 343,899
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1 B 620 % 66,534
Assets of discontinued operations i : ; 2,797
Total current assets 671,429
Property, plant and equipment, net 482,273
Goodwill, net ; 671,912
Intangible assets, net k 374,828
Assets of discontinued operations 4 6,666
Other assets and deferred charges 89,816
Total assets $2,327.801 | $2,296,924
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity L
Current liabilities: e
Current portion of long-term debt .8 25407 $ 28592
Short-term debt L9500 20,000
Accounts payable 122,780 i 134,568
Accrued expenses - 163,771 165,758
Accrued and deferred income taxes N 32,248 ) 28,436
Liabilities of discontinued operations e et 1,247
Total current liabilities .’;53,701 [ 378,601
Long-term debt: | ' e l
Senior | 600,696 1) 471,561
Senior subordinated notes A ' : -—) 200,293
Convertible subordinated notes 175,412
Deferred income taxes 38,706
Liabilities of discontinued operations 1,706
Other non-current liabilities 28,802
Commitments and contingencies {(see Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, no shares issued | A —
Class A common stock, $.20 par value 40,483,818 and 39,895,214 shares issued e L8092 . 7,978
Class B common stock, $.20 par value 11,872,897 and 11,872,897 shares issued ‘r '2,375 2,375
Additional paid-in capital {109,004~ 1,046,802
Unearned compensation s ‘o ‘(2,667)v —
Retained earnings (deficit) [~ (20:T81 (27,797)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 95,784 (20,100)
Treasury stock, at cost (TS (7,415)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,135,092 1,001,843
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity '$2,327,V’801 $2,296,924
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31, 2003 | 2002 2001
Total revenue . $1,297,285 $1,230,762 $969,286
Cost of sales | 774806 | 705,174 591,093
Gross profit 522470 525,588 378,193
Selling, general and administrative expenses 346,130 < 327,588 255,504
Research and development r 63,232 , 67,088 48,985
Asset impairments and other 8,727 | 155,123 10,059
Purchased in-process research and development ; —_— — 37,665
Operating income (loss) .104,390 (24,211 25,980
Interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs : {63,608) (76,212) (51,482)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (29,1003 (52,929) (11,029
Other income (expense), net 12,439 | (2,930 (603)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before provision for income taxes ) 24,121 (156,282 (37,136)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1,574 ’ (62,715 (543)
Income (loss) from continuing operations | 22,547 (93,567) (36,593)
Discontinued operations (Note 7): | ,5
Loss from discontinued operations ‘ (5,880) 7 (8,127) (1,269
Income tax (benefit) Lo (269) (2,033) (160)
Loss on discontinued operations (5,611) (6,094) (1,109)
Net income (loss) 3 16,936 $ (99,661 $(37,702)
Earnings per common share: /
Basic .
Income (loss) from continuing operations L% 0.44 $ (1.88) $ 0.8
Loss from discontinued operations % 0.1 $ ©.12) $  (0.0%)
Net income (loss) $ 0.33 / $ (2.00) $ (0.9
Diluted j [
Income (loss) from continuing operations (% 0.43 ( $ (1.88) § (08D
Loss from discontinued operations F$ 0D $ (012 5 (0.03
Net income (loss) $ 032 | $ (200 $ (0.92)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)

Accumulated
Other
Additional  Unearned Compre- Retained Total
Common Paidin  Compen- hensive Earnings  Treasury  Stockholders’
Stock Capital sation  Income (Loss) (Deficit) Stock Equity
Balance, December 31, 2000 $ 8102 $§ 792659 § — $(74,473) $126,341 $(6,943) $ 845,686
Comprehensive income:
Net loss—2001 (37,702) (37,702)
Currency translation adjustment (23,949 (23,949
Total comprehensive net loss (61,651
Dividends declared ($.18 per common share) (7,540) (7,540)
Tax benefit realized from stock option plan 478 478
Non-cash conversion of 05 Notes, net 297 39,827 40,124
Non-cash conversion of Industrier Note, net 475 66,639 67,114
Exercise of stock options (Class A) and other 25 2,183 2,208
Employee stock purchase plan 24 3,313 — — — 3,337
Balance, December 31, 2001 $ 8923 § 905099 $§ — $(98,422) $ 81,099 $(6,943) $ 889,756
Comprehensive income:
Net loss—2002 (99,661) (99,661)
Currency translation adjustment 83,386 83,386
Minimum Pension Liability, net 1,797 Q1,797
Unrealized losses on derivative contracts, net (3,267) (3,267)
Total comprehensive net loss (21,339
Dividends declared ($.18 per common share) (9,235) (9,239
Non-cash conversion of 05 Notes, net 633 68,501 69,154
Non-cash conversion of 06 Note, net 687 66,309 66,996
Exercise of stock options (Class A) and other 35 3,172 4723 2,735
Employee stock purchase plan 55 3,721 — — — 3,776
Balance, December 31, 2002 $10,353 $1,046,802 % — $(20,100) $Q27,797) $(7,415) $1,001,843
Comprehensive income:
Net income—2003 16,936 16,936
Currency translation adjustment 113,057 113,057
Minimum Pension Liability, net 1,514 1,514
Unrealized gains on derivative contracts, net 1,313 1,313
Total comprehensive net income 132,820
" Dividends declared ($.18 per common share) (9,320} (9,320)
Capital contribution from Parent 2,267 2,267
Restricted shares issued 23 2970 (2,99% —
Amortization of restricted shares 326 326
Tax benefit realized from stock option plan 527 527
Exercise of stock options (Class A} and other 46 2,361 2,407
Employee stock purchase plan 45 4,177 _ — — — 4,222
Balance, December 31, 2003 050,104 95,784$(20,181) $('7,41.5),‘ 135,092:
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

2003

Years Ended December 31, 1 2002 2001
Operating activities: j; ;
Net income (loss) § $ 16,936 $ (99,661} $ (37,702)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: ;
Depreciation and amortization ’ 95,201 83,532 71,589
Interest accretion on convertible debt 1 6,141 6,516 7.457
Amortization of loan costs } 3,941 4,727 6,022
Gain on sale of property | 2,299 | — —
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations 4,041 ‘ — —
Purchased in-process research and development —_— — 37,665
Deferred income taxes G779 ‘ (46,718) 2,244
Other non-cash items ’ 7,157 193,853 30,403
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects from business acquisitions: f,
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (12,426) ‘ 27,308 26,642
Decrease (increase) in inventory 53,409 % (949) (41,620)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,308 (11,461) 213
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued s
expenses and accrued income taxes 3 €21,343) ; 3,415 22,349
Other, net ﬁ’ 5,908 \ 1,638 (5,878)
Net cash provided by operating activities % 157,000 i 162,200 119,384
Investing activities: E %
Capital expenditures | (42,619) | (74,390) (85,247)
Purchase of businesses and intangibles, net of cash acquired 3’ (5,252) % (7,313) (687,8%9)
Proceeds from sale of property ;’ 2,355 ‘ —_ —_
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary | 5967 | p— —
Net cash used in investing activities (39,549) [ (81,703) (773,136)
Financing activities: : 'E
Net advances under lines of credit ‘ 17,527 E 15,325 4,690
Proceeds of senior long-term debt 3 — ; 31,000 784,117
Reduction of long-term debt } {324,540) f (116,787) (389,684)
Dividends paid L0520 ©,235) 754D
Proceeds from sales of subordinated notes ; — k — 200,000
Issuance of senior unsecured debt ‘ 220,000 ‘ — —
Net capital contribution from parent l 2,267 [ — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock : 9.034 ; 6,720 5,545
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (83,012) 3 72977 597,127
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes : 2,221 t 1,549 (1,412)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents I 34,660 t 9,069 (58,037)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year | 23,963 | 14,894 72,931
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ’, $ 58623 E $ 23,963 $ 14,894

* Includes $91 and $159 of cash from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share data)

> 1. The Company

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries, (the "Company”} is a global
pharmaceutical company which develops, manufactures and mar-
kets specialty generic and proprietary human pharmaceutical and
animal pharmaceutical products.

In 1994, the Company acquired the pharmaceutical, animal
heatth, bulk antibiotic and aquatic animal health business
("Alpharma Oslo”) of A. L. Industrier ASA ("A. L. Industrier”),
the beneficial owner of 100% of the outstanding shares of the
Company's Class B Stock. The Class B stock represents 22.7%
of the total outstanding common stock as of December 31,
2003. A. L. Industrier, a Norwegian company, is able to control
the Company through its ability to elect more than a majority of
the Board of Directors and to cast a majority of the votes in any
non-class vote of the Company’s stockholders. (See Note 20.)

The Company’s businesses are organized in four reportable
segments as follows:

International Generics ("1G")

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (" API")

U.S. Human Pharmaceuticals (“USHP")

Animal Health ("AH")

IG, APl and USHP are part of Human Pharmaceuticals.

1G’s principal products are dosage form pharmaceuticals sold
primarily in Scandinavia, the United Kingdom and western Europe
as well as Indonesia, China and certain middle eastern countries.

The API's principal products are bulk pharmaceutical antibiotics
sold to the pharmaceutical industry in the U.S. and worldwide for
use as active substances in a number of finished pharmaceuticals.

USHP’s principal products are generic liquid and topical phar-
maceuticals and solid dose oral pharmaceuticals both generic and
branded. USHP sells primarily to wholesalers, distributors, and
merchandising chains.

The Animal Health business includes the Animal Health and
Aquatic Animal Health Products. Animal Health’s principal prod-
ucts are medicated feed additive and other animal health prod-
ucts for animals raised for commercial food production (principally
poultry, cattle and swine) in the U.S. and worldwide. Aquatic
Animal Health manufactures and markets vaccines primarily for
use in immunizing farmed fish (principally salmon) worldwide with
a concentration in Norway. (See Note 24 for segment and geo-
graphic information.)

> 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries. The
effects of all significant intercompany transactions have been
eliminated. Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform
with current year presentations.

Use aof Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions. The
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments that have
an original maturity of three months or less.

Inventories

inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all inventories. The
determination of market value to compare to cost involves assess-
ment of numerous factors, including costs to dispose of inventory
and estimated selling prices. (nventory determined to be dam-
aged, obsolete, or otherwise unsaleable is written down to its net
realizable value.

The Company also purchases raw materials, and manufactures
finished goods, for certain products prior to the product receiving
regulatory approval or during a period when the product is sub-
ject to litigation. The Company reviews these inventories on a
case by case basis, and records a write-down of the inventory if it
becomes probable that regulatory approval will not be obtained,
litigation will be resolved unfavorably, or the inventory's cost will
not be recoverable based on other factors. (See Note 18 for addi-
tional information.)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

(In thousands, except share data)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.
Expenditures for additions, major renewals and betterments are
capitalized and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to income as incurred. When assets are sold or retired,
their cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts, with any gain or loss included in net income.

Depreciable assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable based on projected undiscounted
cash fiows associated with the assets. A loss is recognized for the
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the
assets. Fair value is determined based upon a market quote, if
available, or is based on valuation techniques.

Interest is capitalized as part of the acquisition cost of major
construction and software development projects. In 2003, 2002,
and 2001, $167, $1,904, and $2,232 of interest costs were capi-
talized, respectively.

Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives which are generally as follows:

Buildings 3040 years
Building improvements 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment 2-20 years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

On January 1, 2002 the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142 applies to all goodwill and
intangibles acquired in a business combination. Under SFAS 142,
all goodwill and certain intangibles determined to have indefinite
lives will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment at
least annually. Intangible assets other than goodwill will be amor-
tized over their useful lives, generally 5-20 years, and reviewed
for impairment in accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the
impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note 12 for
additional detail relating to the Company’s goodwill and other
intangible assets.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign subsidiaries
are translated from their respective functional currencies into U.S.
Dollars at rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Results of opera-
tions are translated using average rates in effect during the year.
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
income. Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate com-
ponent of stockholders’ equity. The foreign currency translation
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adjustment for 2003, 2002 and 2001 is net of $(1,358), $(1,910)
and $318, respectively, representing the foreign tax effects associ-
ated with long-term intercompany advances to foreign subsidiaries.

Derivative Instruments

The Company adopted SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its corresponding
amendments under SFAS No. 138, (referred to hereafter as “SFAS
133”), on January 1, 2001. Under the provisions of SFAS 133, al!
derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognized periodically in earnings or
stockhalders’ equity, depending on the intended use of the deriv-
ative and whether the derivative is classified as a hedging instru-
ment. Changes in fair value of the derivative instrument not
designated as hedging instruments are recognized in earnings
in the current period.

The Company formally documents all relationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items as well as the risk man-
agement objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedg-
ing relationships. Ali cash flow hedges are linked directly to
specific transactions and the Company assesses effectiveness at
inception and on a quarterly basis. When it is determined that a
derivative instrument is not highly effective or the transaction is
no longer deemed probable of occurring, the Company discan-
tinues hedge accounting.

The Company’s derivative instruments, which are entered into
on a limited basis, consist principally of foreign currency forward
contracts and interest rate swaps. These instruments are entered
into in order to manage exposures to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. The Company carries its deriva-
tive instruments at its fair value on the balance sheet, recognizing
changes in the fair value of foreign currency forwards in current
period earnings and changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps,
which are classified as cash flow hedges, in stockholders’ equity.

The Company selectively enters into foreign exchange contracts
to buy and sell certain cash flows in non-functional currencies
and to hedge certain firm commitments due in foreign currencies.
Foreign exchange contracts, other than hedges of firm commit-
ments, are accounted for as foreign currency transactions and
gains or losses are included in income. Gains and losses related to
hedges of firm commitments are deferred and included in the
basis of the transaction when it is completed.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk of
loss are transferred to customers. Certain of the Company’s sub-
sidiaries have terms of FOB shipping point where title and risk of




loss transfer on shipment. Certain subsidiaries have terms of FOB
destination where title and risk of loss transfer on delivery. In the
case of FOB destination, revenue is not recognized until products
are received by the customer. Additional conditions for recognition
of revenue are that collection of sales proceeds is reasonably

assured and the Company has no further performance obligations.

In the Company’s U.S. Human Pharmaceutical business, and
to a lesser extent in Human Pharmaceuticals—International, sales
1o certain customers reguire that the Company remit discounts
to either customers or governmental authorities in the form of
rebates, chargebacks, or other managed care reserves. Additionally,
sales are generally made with a limited right of return under cer-
tain conditions. The Company estimates these rebates, charge-
backs, managed care reserves and estimated returns at the time
of sale based on the terms of agreements with customers and his-
torical experience. The reserve balances relative to these provisions
included in “Accounts receivables, net” and “Accounts payable
and accrued expenses” in the accompanying consolidated batance
sheet totaled $64,701 and $82,387, respectively, at December 31,
2003 and. $65,876 and $73,184, respectively, at December 31,
2002. The Company continually monitors the adequacy of proce-
dures used to estimate these reductions by comparison of esti-
mated reductions to actual reductions.

Included in Other income is $9,081 of income earned during
the 180 day exclusivity period for Metformin ER under a profit
sharing agreement with another pharmaceutical company. The
income has no direct costs associated with it although it is sup-
ported by and originated from the cost structure and investments
of the U.S. Human Pharmaceuticals business.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and for-
eign income taxes currently payable and those deferred because
of temporary differences in the basis of assets and liabilities
between amounts recorded for financial statement and tax pur-
poses. Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method.

At December 31, 2003, the Company’s share of the undistrib-
uted earnings of its foreign subsidiaries, (excluding cumulative for-
eign currency translation adjustments), was approximately $183,000.
No provisions are made for U.S. income taxes that would be
payable upon the distribution of earnings which have been rein-
vested abroad or are expected to be returned in tax-free distribu-
tions. It is the Company’s policy to provide for U.S. taxes payable
with respect to earnings which the Company plans to repatriate.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company has stock-based employee
compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 22.
The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. No stock-
based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income for
incentive stock options, as all options granted under those plans
had an exercise price egual to the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of the grant. Compensation cost for
restricted stock is recorded based on the market value on the date
of grant. The fair value of restricted stock is charged to unearned
compensation in stockholders’ equity and amortized 1o expense
over the requisite vesting periods. The following table illustrates
the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB State-
ment No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to
stock-based employee compensation.

Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001

Net income (loss),
as reported

Add: Stock-based employee
compensation expense
included in reported net
income, net of related
tax effects

Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation
expense determined
under fair value based ‘
method for all awards, e
net of related tax effects i 5,243 6,335 4,876

CS11895 | $(105,996)  $(42,578)

i

$ (99,661)  $(37,702)

Pro forma net income (loss)

(Loss) earnings per share: R ,

Basic—as reported : (2.00)
213
2.00)

213)

(0.92)
(1.04)
.92
(1.04)

Basic—pro forma

Diluted—as reported

wr s | o] o
L N R

Diluted—pro forma

Comprebensive Income (Loss)

SFAS 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income,” requires for-
eign currency translation adjustments and certain other items,
which were reported separately in stockholders” equity, to be
included in other comprehensive income (loss). Included within

> page 29
Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements conmmues

(In thousands, except share data)

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the Company
are foreign currency translation adjustments, changes in the fair
value of interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges, net
of related tax benefit, of $1,197, and changes in the minimum
pension liability, net of related tax benefit, of $1,514. Total com-
prehensive income {loss) for the years ended 2003, 2002 and
2001 is included in the Statement of Stockholders’ Equity.

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) include:

December 31, 2003 | 2002 2001

Cumulative translation ‘ !
adjustment L $98,021 | 5015036  $(98,422)
Minimum pension liability, net |  (283) | 1,797 —
Unrealized gains (losses) on j i
derivative contracts, net ’ (1,954 | (3,267) —
| $95784 | $(20,100) $(98,422)

Segment Information

SFAS 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information” requires segment information to be prepared
using the “management” approach. The management approach is
based on the method that management organizes the segments
within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing
performance. SFAS 131 also requires disclosures about products
and services, geographic areas, and major customers.

Shipping Costs

The Company accounts for shipping costs in selling, general
and administrative expenses for purposes of classification within
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. These costs were
approximately $19,000, $20,000 and $19,000 for the three years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Software and Development Costs

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company capitalized purchased
software from a third party vendor and software development costs
incurred under the provisions of SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the
Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use.” Capitalized costs include only (1) external direct costs of
materials and services incurred in developing or obtaining internal
use software, (2) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees
who are directly associated with and who devote substantial time
to the internal use software project, and (3) interest costs incurred,
while developing internal use software. Amortization began in
April 2002 as portions of the project were completed, were ready
for their intended purpose and were placed in service.
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Research and development costs, business process re-engineering
costs, training and computer software maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred. Software development costs are being
amortized using the straight-line method over the expected life
of the product which is estimated to be five to seven years
depending on when it is placed in service.

Capitalized software costs, net of amortization, to date through
December 31, 2003 and 2002 amounted to approximately $45,417,
and $43,805, respectively and are included in other assets.
Amortization began in 2002, and was $10,266 and $3,643 for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Al
significant software modules were completed and ready for their
intended purpose during 2003. Capitalized costs are expected to
be incurred in 2004 related to installation of software modules.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission
of SFAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS 13, and Technical
Corrections as of April 2002.” The statement rescinds SFAS 4 (as
amended by SFAS 64), which required extraordinary item treat-
ment for gains and losses on extinguishments of debt, and SFAS
44, which does not affect the Company. Additionally, the state-
ment amends certain provisions of SFAS 13 and other existing
authoritative pronouncements to make various technical correc-
tions, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under changed
conditions. The provisions of SFAS 145 related to extinguishments
of debt were effective for the Company beginning January 1,
2003, and all other provisions became effective for transactions
occurring on or financial statements issued after May 5, 2002.
The Company has adopted SFAS 145, on January 1, 2003, and
conformed the prior periods presented in the previously filed Form
10K to reflect this adoption.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, ”Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This Statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated
with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging lssues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” This
Statement eliminates the definition and requirements for recogni-
tion of exit costs in Issue 94-3, and requires that a liability for a
cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred. This Statement also establishes that
fair value is the objective for initial measurement of the liability.
SFAS 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated




after December 31, 2002, with early application encouraged. Any
charges associated with future restructuring programs will be
recorded in accordance with SFAS 146,

In November 2002, FASB Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45),
“Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” was issued. FIN 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be
made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial state-
ments about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has
issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize,
at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the
obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recog-
nition and initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation are
applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified
after December 21, 2002. The required disclosures are effective
for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after
December 15, 2002.

On December 31, 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued FASB Statement No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.” Statement
148 amends FASB Statement 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition to
Statement 123’ fair value method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. Statement 148 also amends the disclo-
sure provisions of Statement 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim
Financial Reporting,” to require disclosure in the summary of sig-
nificant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s accounting
policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on
reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim
financial statements. While the Statement does not amend
Statement 123 to require companies to account for employee
stock options using the fair value method, the disclosure provi-
sions of Statement 148 are applicable to all companies with
stock-based employee compensation, regardless of whether they
account for that compensation using the fair value method of
Statement 123 or the intrinsic value method of Opinion 25,
Statement 148's amendment of the transition and annual disclo-
sure requirements of Statement 123 are effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has adopted the
disclosure provisions of FAS 148 as of December 31, 2002, and
will continue to use the intrinsic value method of APB 25.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
"Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” ("FIN 46"). FIN 46
requires that a variable interest entity be consolidated by a com-
pany if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss
from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a

majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. The consolidation
provisions of FIN 46 were originally effective for financial periods
ending after july 15, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB issued
Staff Position FIN 46-6, "Effective Date of FIN 46," which delayed
the implementation date for certain variable interest entities to
financial periods ending after December 31, 2003. In December
2003, the FASB published a revision to FIN 46 (“FIN 46R"} to clar-
ify some of the provisions of FIN 46, and to exempt certain enti-
ties from its reguirements. The Company does not expect the
adoption of these standards to have a material impact on the
results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In January 2003, the Emerging lssues Task Force (EITF) released
EITF 00-21: "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” EITF 00-21 clarifies the timing and recognition of
revenue from certain transactions that include the delivery and
performance of multiple products or services. EITF 00-21 is effec-
tive for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods begin-
ning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s Financial Statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS 106-1,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
(“the Act”) ("FSP FAS 106-1"). FSP FAS 106-1 allows for current
recognition or a one-time deferral of the effects of the Act. The
deferral suspends the application of SFAS No. 106's “Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,”
measurement requirements, and it revised SFAS 132’ disclosure
requirements for pensions and other postretirement plans for the
effects of the Act. The Company has elected to take the one-time
deferral and, therefore, any measures of the accumulated postre-
tirement benefit obligation or net periodic postretirement benefit
cost in the financial statements or accompanying notes do not
reflect the effects of the Act. Specific authoritative guidance on
accounting for the federal subsidy included in the Act is pending.
The guidance, when issued, could require the Company to
change previously reported information.

In December 2003, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange
Commission issued SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition” ("SAB
104"), which supercedes SAB 101. SAB 104’ primary purpose is
to rescind accounting guidance contained in SAB 101 related to
multiple element revenue arrangements, superceded as a result of
the issuance of EITF 00-21. As previously discussed, the Company's
adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on its
results of operations, cash fiows or financial position, and, conse-
guently, the Company’s revenue recognition policy is in accord-
ance with SAB 104.
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> 3. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In the fourth quarter of 2001 the Company completed the
acquisition of the Faulding Oral Pharmaceuticals Business (“OPB")
and entered into a $900,000 credit facility ("2001 Credit Facility")
to finance the acquisition and replace its previous credit agree-
ment. The 2001 Credit Facility includes covenants that require it
to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy financial condi-
tions consisting of a maximum total leverage ratio test, a maxi-
mum senior secured {everage ratio test, a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio test, a minimum interest coverage ratio test and a
minimum net worth test. A breach of any of these covenants, if
not cured or waived, could result in a default under the 2001
Credit Facility. If an event of default under the 2001 Credit Facility
occurs, the lenders under these facilities could elect to declare all
amounts outstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest,
to be immediately due and payable. The calculation of EBITDA, as
defined in the credit facitity, on a rolling four quarter basis is impor-
tant to many of these tests. Certain of these covenants became
more restrictive as of December 31, 2003 and will become more
restrictive at March 31, 2005. The Company is in compliance with
these covenants as of December 31, 2003.

Continued compliance with these financial covenants in 2004
is dependent on the Company’s EBITDA as defined by the credit
agreement, and therefore the Company’s ability to generate
increasing amounts of operating income, or on the Company’s
abifity to reduce the amount of its outstanding debt. Since 2001,
the Company has reduced the amount of its outstanding debt and
the size of the original facility by prepaying term debt by $185,000
and by lowering the revolving line of credit by $150,000. On an
overall basis, senior debt and total debt at December 31, 2003
were $635,603 and $817,156, respectively, compared to $520,153
and $895,858, respectively, at December 31, 2002. Included in
senior debt at December 31, 2003, was $220,000 of Senior Notes
issued in 2003 {see Note 13 for further details).

The Company’s EBITDA, as defined, is affected most directly by
changes in operating income. Operating income in 2003 has been
negatively affected by corrective actions in two of U.S. Human
Pharmaceutical’s plants. Significant compliance costs have been
incurred as a result of the Company’s response to Form 483’s
issued by the FDA for the Company’s Baltimore and Elizabeth
plants. In addition, the corrective action plans have resulted in
lower production and significant rationalization of the liquids
product line at the Baltimore plant and no new product introduc-
tions during 2003, from either plant.

2003 compliance costs amount to $34,400, of which approxi-
mately $18,000 relates to external consuitants (see Footnote 18
for further details) and the remainder relates to increased internal
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resources. The additional internal staffing levels are necessary to
support the Company’s commitment to FDA compliance and are
expected to continue beyond the corrective action period. External
consulting costs declined sequentially in the first, second, third
and fourth quarters of 2003 and are expected to continue at the
fourth quarter rate of approximately $2,000 into 2004.

The Company plans to complete the major elements of the
FDA compliance enhancement plan in Elizabeth by mid 2004
and new solid dose product launches are contingent on the
receipt of FDA approval. The Company expects to complete
the major elements of the FDA compliance enhancement plan
in Baltimore by the end of 2004. The Company is preparing for
passible FDA re-inspections of both facilities.

During most of 2003, the Company's most restrictive debt
covenant was total debt to EBITDA (“Total Leverage Ratio”). This
covenant tightens from a required maximum ratio of 4.00 to 1.00
at December 31, 2003 to a required maximum ratio of 3.50 to
1.00 at March 31, 2005. The Company remained in compliance
with all its debt covenants at December 31, 2003, with approxi-
mately $40,000 of EBITDA flexibility on its tightest covenant at
year-end, the Interest Coverage Ratio.

The Company has developed its business and finandal plan for
2004 and has evaluated its flexibility in complying with each of
the financial covenants as part of this process. The Company
believes it has a number of options avaitable to provide it with
increased financial fiexibility, thereby ensuring continued compli-
ance with its covenants. Certain of these options are entirely
within the Company’s control and others require actions of the
bank group and/or a third party. In December 2003, the 2001
Credit Facility was amended to allow for certain actions associ-
ated with the Company’s ability to achieve increased financial
tlexibility. The amendment includes provisions enabling the
Company to sell certain assets, provides for additional flexibility in
the timing and application of certain financial ratio tests, and per-
mits exclusions of certain restructuring charges and gains and
losses on potential divestitures of assets and businesses from the
calculation of EBITDA. Options include:

s Continued aggressive asset management, including both work-
ing capital reduction programs and controls over capital expen-
ditures, to generate free cash flow to enable the Company to
continue to repay outstanding debt. Capital expenditures were
$47,871 for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to
$81,703 for the year ended December 31, 2002.

» Continue to reduce operating costs. In the fourth quarter of
2003, the Company reviewed its overall business cost structure,
which resulted in a reduction in force at each of its segments,




As a resuft, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of approx-
imately $8,700 related 1o this action. The Company is evaluat--
ing other actions to reduce its cost base in 2004 and beyond.

Continue to sell certain assets. in 2003, the Company has sofd
its French generics business and an Animal Health facility. The

Company has engaged investment bankers to explore the pos-
sible sale of certain other assets.

The potential divestiture of significant assets and businesses are
in the preliminary stages and none are subject to formal agree-
ments. it is possible that, if completed, certain of the divesti-
tures could result in losses of up to $100,000. In addition, the
potential divestitures could be dilutive to the Company’s con-
tinuing earnings per share. There is no guarantee any divesti-
ture will be completed. Due to its improved liquidity in 2003,
the Company is not under any financial pressure to accept any
offer which is not in its long-term interests.

" Reduce subordinated convertible debt by issuing common
stock. At December 31, 2003, the Company has $181,553 of
convertible Subordinated Notes outstanding that can be
retired by the exchange of common stock with approximately
the same fair value. In 2001 and 2002, the Company retired
$144,100 of convertible debt by issuing approximately 8.2 mil-
lion shares of Class A common stock.

The Company is required to repay or retire $24,200 of its
5%% convertible debentures by October 2004. The Company is
presently planning for this requirement based on a numbper of
scenarios. The Company expects to be successful in meeting
this requirement.

Obtaining amendments to the bank covenants to allow for
certain of the actions noted above and to provide additional
flexibility in the timing and application of the financial ratio
tests. In October 2001, the Company borrowed $622,000
from the bank group and at December 31, 2003 the amount
outstanding was $380,900 (a reduction of $241,100). In the
fourth quarter of 2003, the bank group agreed to an amend-
ment which allowed for specified asset sales, permitted exclu-
sions of restructuring and refinancing charges from EBITDA of
up to $10,000 and the minimum net worth definitions, and
amended the leverage ratios to delay the timing of further
covenant restrictions. The Company believes that its perform-
ance in the reduction of the loan, and its previous experience
in working with the bank group would assist it in obtaining
future amendments, if necessary.

While the Company cannot assure its success in executing any
of the above-noted actions, it will take the actions necessary to
maintain sufficient financial flexibility with its debt covenants and
remain in compliance throughout 2004.

> 4, Business and Product Line Acquisition

The following acquisition was accounted for under the pur-
chase method and the accompanying financial statements reflect
the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and
the results of operations from the respective acquisition date.

Faulding Acquisition

On July 12, 2001, the Company entered into a definitive
agreement to acquire the generic and proprietary oral solid dose
pharmaceuticals business ("OPB acquisition”) in the U.S. and China
of FH. Faulding & Co. Limited from Mayne Nickless Limited for total
consideration of $660,000 in cash (approximately $669,800 includ-
ing direct acquisition related costs). On October 2, 2001, Mayne
closed its tender offer for Faulding’s shares after having accepted
the tender of more than 90% of Faulding’s shares. On October 5,
2001, Alpharma gained operational and economic control of OPB
subject to certain limitations. On December 12, 2001 Mayne
acquired 100% of Faulding’s shares and transferred the OPB to
the Company in accordance with the acquisition agreement.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed and the resuits of OPB operations
are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
beginning on the date of acquisition, December 12, 2001.

The acquisition of the Oral Pharmaceuticals Busingss inciudes the
operations of Purepac Pharmaceuticals and Faulding Laboratories in
the United States and Foshan Faulding Pharmaceutical China. The
Oral Pharmaceuticals Business includes research, development,
manufacturing, sales and marketing of generic and proprietary
oral solid dose pharmaceuticals in the United States and China.
in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2001, the OPB had net sales
of $205,200 (unaudited) comprised of U.S. net sales of $190,700
(unaudited) and China net sales of $14,500 (unaudited).

The transaction generated significant charges for in-process
research and development (“IPR&D"), the write-up and subse-
quent write-off of purchased inventory, financing costs specific
to the transaction and integration costs incurred in combining
OPB in the United States with the U.S. Pharmaceutical Division
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("USPD") to form U.S. Human Pharmaceuticals (" USHP"). IPR&D
was valued based on estimated future cash flows for 22 individual
products under development, adjusted for charges for core tech-
nclogy and use of existing assets. Cash flows were discounted at
a rate of 15.4% and a risk adjustment factor was subsequently
applied to each project based on probability of realization of the
cash flows. Cash inflows from individual projects are expected to
commence during the period ranging from mid-2002 to 2005,
depending on the project. The estimated future cash flows are
based on assumptions consistent with the OPB’s historical per-
formance. The charges can be summarized as foliows:

December 31,

Description 2002 2001 Caption

Inventory write-up
(related to sales of

acquired inventory) §5357 § 175t Costof sales
IPR&D — 37,665  Purchased in-
process research
and development
Severance of
USPD employees — 4,829  Asset impair-
ments and other
Amortization of bridge
financing expenses — 3271 Other, net
Charges and expenses
related to the acquisition $5357  $47,516
Tax benefit (2,062) (3,842)
Net charge $3295  $43,674
Loss per share $ 0D $ Qon

During 2002, the Company adjusted the preliminary purchase
price allocation for changes in account balances resulting from
the final valuation, adjustments to the opening balance sheet and
certain reclassifications. The most significant changes resulted in a
reclassification of approximately $25,500 from goodwill to intan-
gible assets related to the valuation of certain product rights, and
a reduction of goodwill and deferred tax liabilities of approxi-
mately $26,000 as amortization of certain identified intangibles
were determined to be deductible for tax purposes.
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The purchase price was allocated based on a final valuation in
the following manner:

Intangible assets represent primarily the valuation of one asset
class, current products (approximately 98% of the value). All
intangible assets are subject to amortization. The weighted aver-
age amortization period is approximately 12.8 years.

Faulding Combined as of December 12, 2001

Amounts

Allocated

Cash $ 5,759
Accounts receivable, net 37.898
Inventory 59,809
Prepaid expenses 24,456
Current assets 127,922
Property plant and equipment, net 106,724
Intangible assets, amortizable over 10-15 years 186,277
Goodwill—existing —
Goodwill—residual 353,379
In-process research and development 37,665
Other assets 1,255
Total assets $813,222
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 84,484
Accrued and deferred income taxes 13,462
Current liabilities 97,946
Deferred income taxes 42,450
Other non-current liabilities 3,023
Total liabilities $143,419
Total cash consideration $669,803

Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited pro forma information on results of
operations assumes the purchase of the OPB as if the companies
had combined at the beginning of 2001:

Pro forma*
Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenue $1,183,300
Net income (loss) $ (63,900)
Basic EPS $ (1.56)
Diluted EPS $ 1.56)

*Includes actual after-tax charges related to the OPB acquisition ($43,674).



These unaudited pro forma results have been prepared for
comparative purposes only and include certain adjustments, such
as additional amortization expense as a result of acquired intangi-
bles and goodwill and an increased interest expense on acquisi-
tion debt. They do not purport to be indicative of the results of
‘operations that actiially would have resulted had the acquisitions
occurred at the beginning of 2001, or of future results of opera-
tions of the consolidated entities.

> 5. Impairments, Reorganization, Refocus and Other Actions

2001 Actions
In 2001, the Company incurred severance costs of approxi-
mately $10,059 in connection with the following three actions:

s The Company incurred charges as a result of management
actions intended to improve future operations. The IG and AP}
combined management and incurred charges of approximately
$4,300 primarily for severance of 79 employees. Alf employees
were severed by June 30, 2002.

* Asindicated in Note 4, as part of the combination of USPD
and OPB-U.S., severance charges of approximately $4,800

were expensed for 39 USPD employees. In addition, severance
accruals of approximately $1,700 for 19 OPB-U.S. employees
were included in the purchase price allocation. All employees
were severed by June 30, 2002.

* AH changed three senior managers in the fourth quarter of
2001 and severancé of approximately $1,100 was incurred.

In addition, new AH management in its review of current proj-
ects decided to discontinue support of the Optibreed project and
incurred charges of approximately $11,200 to reflect the write-
down of Optibreed inventory and the equity investment in the
company which manufactured Optibreed inventory.

in early 2002, the Company became aware of process defi-
ciencies, which occurred in 2001 for two products sold by USHP.
One of these products was manufactured by a contract manufac-
turer. Based on the nature of the deficiencies, the Company
determined that a voluntary recall of these products from its
direct customers was required. Accordingly, at December 31,
2001, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $10,700
for these recalls, consisting primarily of inventory write-offs for
unsaleable product and estimated disposal costs.

2002 Actions

The Company incurred several impairments and other charges related to actions in connection with management’s reorganization and
refocus to improve future operations. A summary of these charges recorded during 2002 is as follows:

Exit and
Intangible Fixed Facility
Assets Assets Closure Write-down of

Severance  Impairments  Write-offs Costs Subtotal Inventory (*) Total
Southern Cross and Reporcin § — $17,023 $16,353 $ 2,342 $ 35,718 $ 1382 § 37,100
AH Goodwill — 66,011 — — 66,011 — 66,011
IG Intangibles** — 6,479 — — 6,479 — 6,479
AH Facility Closures — — 25,066 15,078 40,144 5,048 45,192
Headcount Reductions 6,771 — — — 6,771 — 6,771
Total $6,771 $89,513 $41,419 $17,420  $155,123 $ 6,430* $161,553

*Recorded in cost of sales in the Statement of Operations.

** Amounts exclude discontinued operations intangible asset impairments of §7,008.

Animal Health

AH incurred charges in connection with changes in response
to and in anticipation of major challenges in the marketplace and
in the way the business will be managed in the future. The AH
business, which is in low or no growth competitive markets, has
been repositioned to enhance working capital management and
cash flow.

Southern Cross and Reporcin (AH)

In September 1999, AH acquired the business of Southern
Cross Biotech, Pty. Ltd. (”Southern Cross”) and the exclusive
worldwide license for Reporcin, a product which is used to aid
in the production of leaner pork meat.

Under the terms of the license agreement, additional pay-
ments are required as regulatory approvals for the product are
obtained in certain markets. The Company also was required to
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complete an FDA approved production facility for Reporcin to
complement the acquired Reporcin manufacturing facility. To
meet that requirement, the Company purchased a biopharmaceu-
tical production facility in Terre Haute, Indiana in June 2000 and
began to prepare the facility for production of Reporcin. In early
2002, the Company commissioned an independent study to re-
evaluate the market potential of Reporcin in the U.S. market. At
the same time the Company halted the work to prepare the Terre
Haute facility for Reporcin production.

In August 2002 the Company received the results of the inde-
pendent study on the market viability in the U.S. for Reporcin.
The study identified a number of business risks that translated
into slower market penetration and lower cash flows than previ-
ously forecasted. As a result of the revised expected value of
Reporcin in the U.S., the Company decided to sell the Terre Haute
facility and wrote-down the facility to its estimated fair value. As
a result, the Company incurred an impairment charge related to
the building and fixed assets of $16,353 and accrued for certain
exit and shut-down costs in the amount of $2,342.

The study also caused the Company to reassess the forecasts
of future sales of Reporcin in markets where the Company has
regulatory approval. The intangible and prepaid royalty balances
totaling approximately $21,800 for these markets were compared
by market to the undiscounted cash flows. Since impairment was
indicated, discounted cash flows were prepared and an impair-
ment charge of $17,023 was recorded. The Company also has re-
evaluated the carrying value of the Reporcin manufacturing facility
and inventory on hand and wrote-down the inventory to the lower
of cost or market, thereby incurring a charge of $1,382.

The Company intends to investigate alternative methods to
service the U.S. market and will. continue to market Reporcin in
markets where registrations have been received.

Impairment—AH Goodwill

As part of the required annual 2002 impairment test, the
entire goodwill of Animal Health was written-off resulting in a
charge of $66,011. (See Note 12.) New competitive entrants com-
bined with significant price pressure resuited in lower forecasted
cash flows. The former strategy of growth through new products,
technologies and international market expansion was changed to
a strategy to maximize cash generation.

> page 36
Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report

AH Facility Closures

In connection with the Company’s repositioning and cash gen-
eration strategy, in December 2002, the Company announced the
closing of four Animal Health facilities, certain asset write-downs
and work force reductions. The facility closings included plants in
Missouri, Arkansas, Australia and a research center in New Jersey,
which resulted in write-downs and exit costs of $45,192 (consist-
ing of $40,144 of asset impairments and $5,048 of cost of sales).

1G

Impairment—IG Intangible Assets

In the fourth quarter 2002, all significant intangible assets
were tested for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
" Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” Due to a increased competitive influence in these mar-
ketplaces and continued government regulation, the Company
determined intangible assets for specific products for the German
and French markets needed to be tested and were determined to
be impaired. impairment charges totaling $13,487 were recorded
in the fourth quarter based on results of a probability weighted
cash flow assessment or independent rmarket valuation. included
therein is an intangible asset impairment of $7,008 related to the
discontinued operations of the Company’s French subsidiary.

2003 Actions

The Company incurred severance related to actions in connec-
tion with management’s reorganization and refocus to improve
future operations. These charges represented approximately 175,
139 and 121 employees in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
and are classified as Asset impairments and other within the
Consclidated Statement of Operations. The Company has only
included severance related to specific programs as management
actions, Other severance charges not related to specific programs
are not segregated from normal operations. A summary of sever-
ance charges recorded, by segment, during 2003, 2002 and 2001
is as follows:

U

Years Ended December 31, ‘a’ 2003 | 2002 2001
AH | 53786 | $3852 § 1,100
USHP [ 2520 | — 4,829
IG and API 2421 1,604 4,130
Corporate , — i 1,225 —

88727 | 86771 810,059




A summary of liabilities for severance related to actions in con-
nection with management’s reorganization and refocus is as follows:

Severance 2001 2002
Balance, January 1, $ —  $10,783
Charges 10,059 6,771
Established in
purchase accounting 1,700 —
Adjustments — —
11,759 17,554
Payments ©76) (9,454
Translation adjustments — 334
Balance December 31, $10,783 $§ 8,434

The liabilities for accrued severance are reflected in accrued
expenses. The Company expects to settle these liabilities, the major-
ity of which related to 2003, over the next eighteen months in cash.

A summary of current liabilities set up for 2002 closure and
exit costs and 2003 related activity is as follows:

Other Closure and Exit Costs 2002
Balance, January 1, $ —
Charges 17,420

Adjustments

17,420
Payments
Translation adjustments

Balance December 31, $17,420

The remaining balances as of December 31, 2003 primarily
relate to demolition costs, payment related to a discontinued prod-
uct, lease obligations and other contractually committed costs
associated with facility closures announced in 2002. The Company
expects to settle these liabilities over the next eighteen months.

> 6. Elyzol Dental Gel ("EDG") Product Sale and
Related Agreements

in July 2000, the Company's Danish subsidiary sold the
patents, trademarks, marketing authorizations, and inventory
related to the Elyzol Dental Gel (“EDG") product for cash pro-
ceeds of approximately $8,250. Concurrently with this sale, and
due to the specialized nature of the manufacturing process for
EDG, the Company entered into a Toll Manufacturing Agreement
with the purchaser under which the Company will continue to
manufacture EDG for the purchaser for a four-year period. The
Company is reimbursed for direct manufacturing costs plus an
agreed upon amount for overhead and a variable manufacturing
profit which declines as production volumes increase.

As the relative fair value of the assets sold and the Company’s
toll manufacturing obligation cannot be reliably estimated, the
Company deferred, as of July 2000, the entire excess of the
cash proceeds over the carrying amount of the assets sold and
expenses associated with the sale. The deferral initially amounted
to approximately $7,800 and is being amortized over the four
year term of the Toll Manufacturing agreement on a straight-line
basis, which management believes will approximate amortization
using the units of production method. income from the Transition
Service Agreement and the contractual profit under the Toll
Manufacturing Agreement are being recognized as services are
provided or goods are sold to the purchaser.

Approximately $1,900 of the deferral was recognized as income
in each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The remaining balance of approximately $370 has
been deferred and is included in accrued expenses.

> 7. Discontinued Operations

On September 30, 2003, the Company sold its French sub-
sidiary for $5,967. In accordance with SFAS 144, this subsidiary
should be accounted for as a discontinued operation. The net loss
for this subsidiary for the years 2003, 2002, and 2001 are reflected
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations as loss
from discontinued operations. Included in the 2003 results is a
loss on sale of subsidiary of $4,041, including the allocation of
$2,360 of goodwill. Included in the 2002 resuits is an impairment
of intangible assets of $7,008. The assets and liabilities represent-
ing the carrying value of the Company’s French generics business
are presented separately within the asset and liability sections of
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. Prior to the discontin-
uation, the French subsidiary was included within the Company’s
G segment.

The fotlowing table details selected financial information for
the French subsidiary included within discontinued operations:

Statement of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001
Revenues $5869 § 6,032
(Loss) from operations $(8,118)  $(1,262)
Loss from disposal S i 8 - 5 —
Pre-tax (loss) S(S,BSO) J 8812 $(1,269)
Provision (benefit) for taxes i (269) $(2,033) § (160
(Loss) from discontinued W o
operations $(6,094) $(1,109
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Balance Sheet

December 31, {2003 | 2002 2001
Current assets 1 $ — | $2,797 § 2,538
Non-current assets § - $6,666  $11,186
Current liabilities i $ — | $1,247 $ 1,275
Deferred taxes and other J i

non-current liabilities I $— ‘, $1,706  $ 3,210

> 8. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based upon the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share reflect the dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and
convertible debt when appropriate.

A reconciliation of weighted average shares outstanding for
basic to diluted weighted average shares outstanding used in the
calculation of EPS is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Shares tn thousands) g

e ey

2003 . 2002 2001

Average shares outstanding—basic 51,606 49,814 40,880
Stock options ‘ 404 | — —
Convertible notes ; — — —
Average shares outstanding—diluted , 52,010 49,814 40,880

The amount of dilution attributable to the stock options deter-
mined by the treasury stock method depends on the average mar-
ket price of the Company’s common stock for the year. For the year
ended December 31, 2003, stock options to purchase 1,915,118
shares were not included because the option price was greater than
the average price. Stock options had an anti-dilutive effect in 2002
and 2001 and therefore stock options to purchase 4,370,943 and
2,506,058 shares, respectively, were not included in the diluted
EPS calculation.

The following table summarizes stock options not included in
the computation of diluted EPS:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Shares in thousands)

ey

| 2003 | 2002 2001

Excluded due to option price |
l

greater than market price 1 1915 | 2,275 1,730

Excluded due 1o antidilution ‘ — ’ 2,096 776

The 05 Notes issued in March 1998, convertible into 1,196,310
shares at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and 3,175,904 shares at
December 31, 2001 of common stock at $28.59 per share, were
anti-dilutive using the if-converted method and therefore were not
included in the diluted EPS calculation.
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The 06 Notes issued in June 1999, and convertible into
3,809,343 shares at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and
5,294,301 shares at December 31, 2001 of common stock,
were anti-dilutive using the if-converted method and therefore
were not included in the diluted EPS calculation.

The numerator for the calculation of basic EPS is net income
for all periods. The numerator for the calculation of diluted EPS is
net income plus an add back for interest expense and debt cost
amortization, net of income tax effects, related to the convertible
notes when applicable.

A reconciliation of net income (foss) used for basic to diluted
EPS is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, L2003 | 2002 2001
Net income (loss)—basic $16,936 $(99,661)  $(37,702)

Adjustments under the |
if~converted method, i
net of tax { — — —
il

Adjusted net income |

(loss)—diluted $16,936 | $(99.66D)  $(37,702)
> 9. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable consists of the following:
December 31, [ 2003 | 2002
Accounts receivable, trade $259,466 $222,661
Other 2704 | 1589
262170 | 238,560
Less, allowance for doubtful accounts 3,699 ‘ 4,233
| $258471 | $234327

The allowance for doubtful accounts for the three years ended
December 31, consists of the following:

o .

| 2003 | 2002 2001

Balance at January 1, f $4,233 $ 7,244  $ 5,707

Provision for doubtful accounts 4 402 ’ 2,234 2,545
Reductions for '

accounts written off ooy (76D (1,243)

Translation and other G4 | 522 235

Balance at December 31, | $3.699 | $4233 §7,244




> 10. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

$178,708
54,302
110,889

$343,899

Finished product
Work-in-process
Raw materials

included in the 2002 amounts are raw materials totaling
approximately $4,422 related to a product that is subject to regu-
latory approval and litigation. At December 31, 2003, $12,498 of
these raw materials previously included in inventories has been
reclassified to prepaid expenses and ather, as the cost of the raw
materials will be recoverable upon receipt of replacement inventory.
Upon receipt, the raw materials will be reclassified as inventory. See
Note 18 for additional information.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Effective
January 1, 2003, the Company changed from the last-in first-out
(LIFO) method to the first-in first-out (FIFO) method to account for
certain of its United States USHP inventories. The method was
changed in part to achieve a better matching of revenues and
expense. While a change from the LIFO method to the FIFO meth-
ods requires retroactive application 1o the financial statements,
the change was not material to the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company for any of the periods presented as the
inventory values computed under the LIFO method approximated
the inventory values computed under the FIFO method. The FIFO
method, or methods that approximate FIFO, are now used to
determine cost for all inventories of the Company.

> 11. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net, consist of the following:

December 31, 2002
Land $ 19,715
Buildings and building improvements 205,613
Machinery and equipment 441,797
Construction in-progress 92,058
759,183

Less, accumulated depreciation 276,910
$482,273

In connection with the Company's closing of plant facilities,
the assets representing the fair value of Animal Health’s Lowell,
Terre Haute and Wrightstown facilities (2002) totaling $4,825 and
$5,312 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively are being
held for sale, and are included in property, plant and equipment.
The Wrightstown facility was sold in 2003 for a gain of $2,257.

> 12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

intangible assets consist principally of one major intangible
asset class, products rights, including regulatory and/or market-
ing approvals by relevant government authorities. All intangible
assets are subject to amortization. Annual amortization expense
for the years 2004 through 2008 is currently estimated to be
approximately $33,100, $32,300, $30,200, $28,500 and
$27,600, respectively.

Identifiable intangible assets are required to be tested for
impairment whenever changes in events or circumstances indicate
that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. In Germany, in
2003, one product important to the Company's German opera-
tions, Pentalong, was required to reprove safety and efficacy by the
fourth quarter of 2004. If the Company cannot complete the study
satisfactorily, the Company wili be required to re-evaluate the carry-
ing value of intangible assets totaling approximately $18,000. The
Company believes, but cannot assure, it will be successful.

Intangible assets and accumulated amortization are summa-
rized as follows:

(ntangible assets, primarily products rights)

Balance, December 31, 2001 $383,651
Additions 5,632
Amortization (33,978)
Translation adjustment 9,883
Impairments (12,264)
Reclassifications from goodwill and other 21,902
Balance, December 31, 2002 $374,828
Accumulated amortization, December 31, 2002 $111,277
Balance, December 31, 2002 $381,067*
Additions 2,579
Amortization (34,378)
Impairments (product rights) (2,045)
Translation adjustment 6,797
Sale of French subsidiary

6,350

Balance, December 31, 2003
Accumulated amortization, December 31, 2003

*Includes intangible assets of $6,239 related to French subsidiary, classified
as assets of discontinued operations.

> page 39
Alpbarma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinuea)

(In thousands, except share data)

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31,

2002 and 2003, are as follows:

IG APL USHP AH Total

Balance December 31, 2001 $226,681 $4,152 $449,619 $ 65,852 $746,304

Impairment and write-off of Animal Health goodwill — — — (66,011) (66,011)
Finalization of OPB purchase price allocation,

including intangible asset reclassifications — — (42,996) - (42,996)

Foreign exchange translation 33,681 775 — 159 34,615

Balance December 31, 2002 $260,362 $4,927 $406,623 $ — $671,912

Net intangible asset reclassifications represent product rights
(as discussed above) which had been separately identified but
which had been classified as goodwill for financial reporting pur-
poses prior to the adoption of SFAS 142. All goodwill is not sub-
ject to amortization as of January 1, 2002. The Company assigned
intangibles and goodwill to identified reporting units, completed
the transitional impairment test as required, and determined that
there was no impairment of existing goodwill as of January 1,
2002. This assessment was made utilizing forecasted cash flows
discounted at a rate of 11%.

As required in the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company per-
formed the required annual test for impairment. The assessment

was made in conjunction with the budgeting and long-range
planning by each segment. The assessment utilized essentially the
same methodology as the initial testing. The Animal Health seg-
ment indicated a possible impairment due to emerging external
factors which included increasing competition, and lower prices.
Additionally, the Company re-evaluated its prior growth plans
internationally and domestically for new and existing products.
The re-evaluation indicated growth prospects had diminished and
the segment should be operated to maximize cash generation.
The Company engaged an independent valuation firm to perform
step two testing and, as a result, wrote off all of the Animal
Health goodwill, totaling $66,011.

1G API USHP AH Total
Balance December 31, 2002 $260,362 $4,927 $406,623 $— $671,912
Adjustment for sale of French subsidiary (2,360) —_ — — (2,360)
Foreign exchange translation 40,448 979 — — 41,427
Balance December 31, 2003 f $208450 - $5906  $406,623 S— $7IO,979§

In connection with the sale of its French subsidiary {(see Note 7), the Company allocated goodwill totaling $2,360 to discontinued operations.

As required in the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company performed the required annual test for impairment. The assessment was
made in conjunction with the budgeting and long-range planning by each segment. The assessment utilized forecasted cash flows dis-
counted at a rate of 11%. The Company determined that there was no impairment of existing goodwill as of December 31, 2003.
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> 13. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31, 2002
Senior debt:
U.S. Dollar Denominated:
2001 Credit Facility
Term A 8856034 $115,557
Term B [ -285766. ) 314,272
Revolving Credit [ s “" 31,000
| 371369 460,829
8.623% Senior Notes due 2011 [+ 220,000 —
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds 1,200, 5,440
Denominated in Other Currencies . 33,334 33,884
Total senior debt | 626103 500,153
g
Subordinated debt:
129 senior subordinated
notes due 2009 (12.5% yield) 200,293
3% Convertible senjor subordinated e
notes due 2006 (6.875% yield), f ety
including interest accretion I 147,346 ; 141,205
5.75% Convertible Subordinated FT
Notes due 2005 1 34,207 34,207
Total subordinated debt L 1815531 375,705
Total long-term debt 1 807‘,656,‘ 875,858
Less, current maturities £ L25407 ! 28,592

| 5782249 | 5847,266

Senior Debt

On October 5, 2001, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Alpharma Operating Corporation (“Alpharma Operating
Corporation”), and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries entered
into a credit agreement (“2001 Credit Facility”) with the Bank of
America, N.A. and a syndicate of lending institutions that provides
up to a maximum of $900,000 of senior credit facilities. The 2001
Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the Company’s
domaestic assets and a pledge of 65% of the shares of certain of
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The agreement replaced the
prior revolving credit facility, provided the funds required for the
acquisition of OPB and related financing costs and increased over-
all credit availability. The 1999 revolving credit facility was repaid
on Octeber 5, 2001 by drawing down on the 2001 Credit Facility.

At closing, the 2001 Credit Facility provided for {i) a $300,000
six year revolving credit facility; (ii) a $175,000 six year Term Loan A,
and {jii) a $425,000 seven year Term Loan B. In December 2001, the
Company prepaid $65,000 of the Term A and Term B loans resuit-
ing in the maximum amount available to be borrowed under the
2007 Credit Facility being reduced to $835,000. in 2003 and 2002,

the Company prepaid an additional $35,000 and $85,000, respec-
tively of the Term A and Term B loans and recorded an expense for
the early extinguishment of debt of $692 and $1,791 (classified
in other, net).

In December 2002, the 2001 Credit Facility was amended to
reduce the revolving credit facility to $150,000. As a result of the
medification to the revolving debt arrangement, the Company
recognized the related portion of unamortized costs in the state-
ment of income in the amount of $3,176 (classified in other, net).

The 2001 Credit Facility has several financial covenants includ-
ing a total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio, senior debt to EBITDA, fixed
charge coverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. In December
2003, an amendment was approved which allowed for specified
asset sales, permitted exclusions of restructuring and refinancing
charges from EBITDA of up to $10,000 and the required net
worth definitions and amended the leverage ratios to delay the
timing of further covenant restrictions (see Note 3).

Under the terms of the 2001 Credit Facility the Company is
required to have a specified percentage of its indebtedness at a
fixed interest rate. To comply with this requirement, in January
2002 the Company entered into a standard interest rate swap in
order to fix the interest rate on $60,000 of its variable rate bor-
rowings under the 2001 Credit Facility. As a result of an additional
reduction in fixed rate indebtedness due to the exchanges of sub-
ordinated debt in March 2002 (discussed below), the Company
settled this interest rate swap and entered into a standard interest
rate swap to effectively fix the interest rate on $100,000 of its
variable rate borrowings at a fixed rate of 7.7% as of December 31,
2002. The Company reviews and renews its swap requirements on
a quarterly basis. The Company accounts for this swap as a cash
flow hedge. Unrealized losses of approximately $1,954, net of
related tax benefits, are included in the Company‘s Consolidated
Statement of Stockholders” Equity as a component of comprehen-
sive income (l0ss).

In addition to financial covenants, the 2001 Credit Agreement
has a number of non-financial covenants. These non-financial
covenants include a requirement that control over the Company
not be transferred from an entity controlled by E.W. Sissener, the
Chairman of the Company, or his family, if as a result or at any-
time after such transfer a third party holds shares representing
20% or more of the voting rights in the Company. A. L. Industrier
ASA ("ALI™), an entity controlied by Mr. Sissener and his family
(and a holding company whose only material business is holding
shares of the Company), currently controls the Company by bene-
ficial ownership of all of the Company’s Class B shares which car-
ries the right to elect a majority of the Company's directors. The
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continuation of ALl's control of the Company remains subject to
the unilateral actions of AL

On April 24, 2003, the Company sold $220,000 aggregate
principal amount of 8%% Senior Notes due 2011. The proceeds of
the offering, after deducting fees and expenses, were $197,000.
These proceeds, together with funds available from other sources,
were used to repay existing 12.5% senior subordinated notes of
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The fees paid to the
initial purchasers of the senior subordinated notes of $22,191
were made pursuant to arrangements originally entered into in
December 2001. The transaction was accounted for as an extin-
guishment of the existing senior subordinated notes. As a result,
both the fees of $22,191 paid in April 2003 and the unamortized
loan costs of $6,217 associated with the senior subordinated
notes, were expensed in the second quarter 2003.

In April 2003, in connection with the offering of the 8%%
Senior Notes, the Company amended the 2001 Credit Facility to
exclude from the definition of EBITDA costs incurred in connec-
tion with the issuance of the 8%% Notes, including the piace-
ment fee, to permit the 8%% Notes to be an unsecured senior
debt obligation of the Company and to change the senior debt to
EBITDA covenant to a senior secured debt to EBITDA covenant.

The 2001 Credit Facility's Term A is payabie in quarterly install-
ments ranging from $5,136 to $5,992 through 2007. The Term B
is payable in quarterly installments of $729 with balloon payment
of $271,915 in 2008. In the event that more than $10,000 of
either the 5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2005 or
the 3% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2006 are out-
standing within six months of their due date, the entire remaining
balance of the Term A, Term B and the Revolving Credit becomes
due and payable.

The Company has issued industrial Development Revenue
Bonds in connection with various expansion projects. In 2003, the
Company repaid bonds with a $2,500 principal amount previously
requiring monthly interest payments at a floating rate approximat-
ing the current money market rate on tax-exempt bonds plus
agency and other fees (total rate approximately 4.5%). In addi-
tion, the Company repaid bonds with a $1,740 principal amount
in 2003, with the remaining $1,200 principal amount requiring
fixed interest payments of between 6.875% and 7.25%. The
remaining balance of $1,200 was repaid on January 2, 2004,

The mortgage notes payable denominated in Norwegian
Kroner (NOK) include amounts issued in connection with the
construction and subsequent expansion of a pharmaceutical facil-
ity in Lier, Norway. The mortgage is collateralized by this facility
(net book value $31,800). The debt was borrowed in a number
of tranches over the construction period and interest is fixed for
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specified periods based on actual yields of Norgeskreditt publicly
traded bonds plus a lending margin of 0.70%. The weighted
average interest rate at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 5.2%
and 7.6%, respectively. The tranches are repayable in semiannual
instaliments through 2021. Yearly principal payments are approxi-
mately $1,300.

Subordinated Debt

12% Senior Subordinated Notes

On December 12, 2001, in connection with the formal closing
of the OPB acquisition, Alpharma Operating Corporation sold
$200,000 in principal amount of 12% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2009 to affiliates of Banc of America Securities LLC and CIBC
World Markets Corp. These Notes were repaid on April 24, 2003.

3.0% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2006

In June 1999, the Company issued $170,000 principal amount
of 3.0% Convertible Senicr Subordinated Notes due 2006 (the
"06 Notes”). The 06 Notes pay cash interest of 3% per annum,
calculated on the initial principal amount of the Notes. The Notes
will mature on June 1, 2006 at a price of 134.104% of the initial
principal amount. The payment of the principal amount of the
Notes at maturity (or earlier, if the Notes are redeemed by the
Company prior to maturity), together with cash interest paid over
the term of the Notes, will yield investors 6.875% per annum.
The interest accrued but which will not be paid prior to maturity
(3.875% per annum) is reflected as long-term debt in the
accounts of the Company. The 06 Notes are redeemable by the
Company after June 16, 2002.

The 06 Notes are convertible at any time prior to maturity,
unless previously redeemed, into 31.1429 shares of the
Company's Class A common stock per one thousand dollars of
initial principal amount of 06 Notes. This ratio results in an initial
conversion price of $32.11 per share. The number of shares into
which a 06 Note is convertible will not be adjusted for the accre-
tion of principal or for accrued interest.

In March 2002, the Company completed an exchange of
3,433,104 shares of its Class A common stock for a portion of its
06 Notes having an approximate principal value of $53,400. The
exchange resulted in a non-cash pre-tax charge of $26,982 (316,487
after-tax) in the first quarter of 2002 (classified in Other, net).

5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2005

in March 1998, the Company issued $125,000 of 5.75%
Convertible Subordinated Notes (the “05 Notes”) due 2005. The
05 Notes may be converted into common stock at $28.594 at any




~~time-prior-to-maturity; subject to-adjustment under certain conditions.

The Company may redeem the 05 Notes, in whole or in part, at a
premium plus accrued interest. Concurrently, A. L. Industrier ASA
("ALI"), the controlling stockholder of the Company, purchased at
par for cash $67,850 principal amount of a Convertible Subordinated
Note (the "Industrier Note”). The Industrier Note had substantially
identical adjustment terms and interest rate as the 05 Notes.

On October 5, 2001, in connection with entering into the
2001 Credit Facility, the Company exchanged 2,372,897 shares
of Class B common stock for its 5.75% convertible subordinated
note due 2005 (principal value $67,850) pursuant to an agree-
ment entered into with ALl on July 11, 2001. This is the number
of shares that AL} was entitled to receive upon conversion of the
Industrier Note pursuant to its terms.

In December 2001, the Company completed the exchange of
1,483,761 shares of its Class A common stock for a portion of its
5.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2005 (“the 05 Notes”)
having an approximate principal value of $34,134. The exchange
resulted in a non-cash charge of $7,357 ($5,860 after-tax or
$0.14 per share).

In March 2002, the Company completed an additional exchange
of 3,266,850 shares of its Class A common stock for a portion
of its 05 Notes having an approximate principal value of $56,600.
The exchange resulted in a non-cash pre-tax charge of $20,980
($12,819 after-tax) in the first quarter of 2002.

Maturities of long-term debt during each of the next five years
and thereafter as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

2004 $ 25,407
2005 60,414
2006 172,553
2007 28,631
2008 275,852
Thereafter 244,799

$807,656

> 14. Short-Term Debt
Short-term debt consists of the following:

December 31, 2002
Domestic $20,000
Foreign —

$20,000

At December 31, 2003, the Company and its domestic sub-
sidiaries have working capital availability under the 2001 Credit
Facility. Borrowings under the lines expected to be for periods less
than three months are classified as short-term.

At December 31, 2003, the Company's foreign subsidiaries
have available lines of credit with various banks totaling approxi-
mately $14,700. Drawings under these lines are made for periods
generally less than three months. At December 31, 2003, the
amount of the unused lines totaled approximately $14,700.

The weighted average interest rate on total short-term debt
during the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately 5.5%,
4.5% and 7.3%, respectively.

> 15. Income Taxes

Domestic and foreign income (loss) before income taxes were
$(24,592) and $42,833, respectively in 2003, $(194,121) and
$29,712, respectively in 2002, $(51,564) and $13,159, respec-
tively in 2001. Taxes on income of foreign subsidiaries are pro-
vided at the tax rates applicable to their respective foreign tax
jurisdictions. The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of
the following:

For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001
Current
Federal $(28,370)  $(7,706)
Foreign 8,661 3,537
State 2,842 GO
(16,867) (4,219
Deferred
Federal (38,900) 1,488
Foreign 6D 1,770
State 6,887 418

(45,848) 3,676

Provision (benefit) for
income taxes from
continuing operations

Benefit for discontinued
operations

$(62,715)  $ (543)

(2,033) (160)

Provision (benefit) for
income taxes

§ G0

$(64,748)
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A reconciliation of U.S. federal income taxes to effective taxes
follows:

Non-deductible costs,
principally amortization |
of intangibles related to I
acquired companies 1,368 6,033 5,306

Non-deductible !
in-process R&D ; ]

Other, net Lo

|
Years Ended December 31, [ 2003 2002 2001
Stawtory U.S. federal L5638 | 354699 512,998
State income tax, net 5 - }
of federal tax benefit Loo4md | 2609 155
Lower taxes on foreign % ' |
earnings, net (8367 | (1,277 6,479
Tax credits A( (1,141 775)
{
i

|
{1,113y |
'i
i

— 13,169
978 1,079

§
¢
{
I
i

Effective tax, |

i
I H
continuing operations [ $1,574 ; $(62,715)  § (543)

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) are comprised of the following:

available to offset future taxable income, and have carryforward
periods ranging from five years to unlimited. The Company has
recognized a deferred tax asset relating to these foreign loss carry-
forwards. Based on analysis of current information, which indicated
that it is not likely that some of these state and foreign losses will be
realized, a valuation allowance has been established for a portion of
these loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2001 the comparative
deferred tax asset valuation allowance was $6,301. Most of the
increase in the valuation allowance relates to separate company loss
carryforwards where uncertainty exists in regard to the future utiliza-
tion of the loss carryforwards by those separate companies.

The Company has recorded certain U.S. deferred tax assets for
which it has provided no valuation allowances. These U.S. deferred
tax assets, as well as any newly generated deferred tax assets are
evaluated quarterly to assess the likelihood of realization, which is
ultimately dependent upon generating future U.S. taxable income
prior to the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards. if it
were considered to be more likely than not that the U.S. deferred
tax assets would not be realized, a valuation allowance would be
established against some or all of the deferred tax assets.

As a result of the Company’s assessment of its net U.S. deferred
tax assets of $25,900 at December 31, 2003, based upon certain
available tax planning strategies, the Company considers it more
likely than not that these net U.S. deferred tax assets will be real-
ized in the future and therefore, no valuation allowance was
required at December 31, 2003. Should it be determined in the
future that it is no longer more likely than not that these assets
will be realized, a valuation allowance would be required and the
Company’s operating results would be adversely affected during
the period in which such determination would be made.

> 16. Pension Plans and Postretirement Benefits

The Company maintains a qualified noncontributory, defined
benefit pension plan covering the majority of its domestic employ-
ees. The benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s

Years Ended December 31, f 2003 | 2002
Accelerated depreciation and : ‘

amortization for income tax purposes ; $ 3,086 ( $ (6,310)
Excess of book basis of acquired }

assets over tax basis ( 33459 1 60,331
Difference between inventory 1 ;

valuation methods used for ; |

book and tax purposes ] 2,727 | 2,435
Other [ 87| (352)

Gross deferred tax liabilities / 47,997 ‘ 56,104
Accrued liabilities and other reserves : 41,062) é (47,120)
Pension liabilities ; 3651 | (58D
Loss carryforwards [ 69,272) | (26,209)
Deferred compensation i (3,030 | (3,055)
Deferred income | (233) | (264)
Other I — 8,872 Domesti

Gross deferred tax assets | Qe | (71357
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance |~ 44,461 ’ 11,393

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) z $ (24,8100 ( $ (3,860)

As of December 31, 2003, the Company has state loss carry-
forwards in several states totaling approximately $181,000, which
are available to offset future taxable income and expire between
2009 and 2023. The Company has recognized a deferred tax
asset relating to these state loss carryforwards, The Company
also has foreign loss carryforwards in thirteen countries as of
December 31, 2003, of approximately $190,000, which are
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highest consecutive five years compensation during the last ten
years of service. The Company’s funding policy is to contribute
annually an amount that can be deducted for federal income tax
purposes. Ideally, the Plan’s assets will approximate the accumu-
lated benefit obligation ("ABO"). The plan assets are under a
single custodian and a single investment manager. Plan assets are
invested in equities, government securities and bonds. In addition,
the Company has unfunded supplemental executive pension plans
providing additional benefits to certain employees.



The Company also has an unfunded postretirement medical
and nominal life insurance plan ("postretirement benefits”) cover-
ing certain domestic employees who were eligible as of lanuary 1,
1993. The plan has not been extended to any additional employ-
ees. Retired eligible employees are required to contribute for cov-
erage as if they were active employees.

The postretirement transition obligation as of January 1, 1993
of $1,079 is being amortized over twenty years. The discount rate

used in determining the 2003, 2002 and 2001 expense was
6.25%, 6.75% and 7.50%, respectively. The health care cost
trend rate was 10% for 2004, declining to 5% for 2009, remain-
ing level thereafter. Assumed health care cost trend rates do not
have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health
care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health
care cost trend rates would not have a material effect on the

reported amounts.

Benefit Obligations
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2002 2003 2002
Change in benefit obligation |
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $26,159 $3,407
Service cost 3,248 102
Interest cost 2,202 248
Plan participants’ contributions — 27
Amendments 75) b ] (945)
Actuarial (gain) loss 5,576 G 129y 802
Benetits paid (1,295 G (220
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $35,815 $3‘,“‘3‘,6‘% ; $3,421

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plans at the end of 2003 and 2002 was $31,809 and $26,530, respectively.

Alpharma Inc. uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension plans and other postretirement plans.

Plan Assets

Pension Benefits

Postretirement

Benefits

2002 2002
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $19,290 $ —
Actual return on plan assets 1,913) —
Employer contribution 3,124 - 193
Adjustment — __
Plan participant contributions — ) 27
Benefits paid (1,295) 220
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $19,206 ; § —

Employer contributions and benefits paid in the above table for the pension plans primarily include those amounts contributed directly

to, or paid directly from plan assets.
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The asset allocation for the Company’s U.S. pension plans at
the end of 2003 and 2002, and the target allocation for 2004, by
asset category, follows. The fair value of plan assets for these
plans is $28,964 and $19,206 at the end of 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The expected long-term rate of return on these plan
assets was 8.75% in 2003 and 9.25% in 2002.

Percentage of Plan

Target Allocation Assets at Year End

2004 | 2003 2002
Asset Category ' i
Equity Securities 70%-80% LOTS% L 73%
Debt Securities 15%-~25% Do19% 24%
Cash 0%-~10% oo | 3%
Real Estate 0% 1 — -
Other 0% [ - —
Total 100% | 100%

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to invest in
a diversified, professionally managed portfolio of equity and fixed
income investments. Equities are typically selected from the S&P
500 in proportion to the S&P 500’ sector weightings. Fixed
income investments consist of government bonds, high quality
corporate bonds and mortgage backed securities.

Funded Status

The funded status represents the difference between the pro-
jected benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets.
Below is a reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans
to the net liability recognized for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002.

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
[ [

a0l 2002 | 2003 | 2002
| $015,196).| $(16609) = $(3366) | (342D

i
Funded status !
Unrecognized net !
i

1,627 ; 1,868

actuarial loss 12810 12,652
Unrecognized net !
transition obligation Y 6 i 36 29 é 32
Unrecognized prior ! Co | %
service cost (benefit) 7 405} ‘ (483) ; (G667} 792

Accrued benefit cost | § (2785) | $ 4400 | $@375) | 82313

1
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Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

freom—t ;T ¥
;o203 | 2002 0 2003 0 2002

End of Year i ‘ k
Prepaid benefit cost $86 005 — 5 — 1§ —
Accrued benefit cost (G,021) | (5957 | (2379 | (2313

Additional minimum ! oo i ’
liability @8 | a3 o8 | (108
Intangible assets o ‘ — — —

Accumulated other | ;

comprehensive | t {
income [0 456 ) 2921 | 989 | 1,108
Net amount recognized | $(2,785) | $(4,403) | $(2375) | $(2313)

At the end of 2003 and 2002 the projected benefit obligation,
the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets
for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess
of plan assets were as follows:

2003 | 2002
End of Year ‘
Projected benefit obligation | 30441600 | $(35,815)
Accumulated benefit obligation 1 (BGLa09y - (26,330)
Fair value of plan assets 7 28,964 19,206
Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation 4 $ (2,845 $ (7,324

At the end of 2003 and 2002, the projected benefit obligation
and the accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
were $3,364 and $3,421, respectively, for the Postretirement
Benefits Plan.

Expected Cash Flows
Information about expected cash flows for the plans follows:

Employer Contributions

Pension Postretirernent

Benefits Benefits
2004 Expected $2,900 $§ 179
Expected Benefit Payments
2004 $ 409 $ 179
2005 436 186
2006 524 183
2007 672 196
2008 802 193
2009-2013 5,476 1,103




Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Weighted average assumptions used to
determine obligations as of December 31
Discount rate

Expected return on plan assets

Rate of compensation increase

2002 2002
6.75% 6.753%
8.75% N/A
4.50% N/A

The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined by applying the Company's target asset allocations to long-term historical
rates of return, as disclosed annually by bbotson Associates for stocks, bonds, and treasury bills. These amounts are compared to the cur-
rent investment management plan, which as of December 31, 2003 has an annualized rate of return of approximately 8.75%.

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on plan assets

Net amortization of transition obligation
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss

Net periodic benefit cost

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

B e e e

2002 2001 2002 2001

$ 3,248 $ 1,945 %102 $102
2,202 1,521 248 243
(2,009 (1,709 — —
30 30 18 18
@D (81 — —
23) — 54 55

$ 3,367 $ 1,706 $422 $418

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

amy

Weighted average assumptions
used to determine net cost
Discount rate

Expected retumn on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” the Company has
included approximately $(1,514) and $1,797 within other compre-

" hensive incomeé as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively, for the change in additional minimum pension liability.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries also have a
number of defined contribution plans, both gualified and non-
qualified, which allow eligible employees to withhold & fixed
percentage of their salary (maximum 25%) and provide for a
Company match based on service (maximum 6%). The Company’s
contributions to these plans were approximately $2,300, $2,300
and $1,800 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company has an unfunded benefit for selected executives
(Supplemental Pension Plan) that provides for the payment of
benefits upon retirement or death. Accrued costs included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 and 2002

2002 2002
7.50% 7.50%
9.25% N/A
4.50% N/A

are $2,740, $2,091, respectively. Expense charged to operations
during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 was
approximately $613, 31,078, and $452, respectively.

Europe

Certain of the Company’s European subsidiaries have various
defined benefit plans, both contributory and noncontributory,
which are available to a majority of employees. Pension plan con-
tributions from the Company and the participants are paid to
independent trustees and invested in fixed income and eguity
securities in accordance with local practices.

Certain subsidiaries also have direct pension arrangements
with a limited number of employees. These pension commitments
are paid out of general assets and the obligations are accrued but
not prefunded.
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Benefit Obligations

| 2003 | 2002
Change in benefit obligation: ]
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ; $65257 | §49517
Service cost | 4964 5 3,826
Interest cost [ 4048 3,187
Amendments } 287 { —
Plan panicipants’ contribution ‘; 656 | 476
Actuarial (gain)/loss LooBod L (1,089
Benefits paid L@a0se | (1,840)
Translation adjustment | 9,668 ’ 11,176
Benefit obligation at end of year [ $91,765 | §65257

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plans at the
end of 2003 and 2002 was $71,772 and $55,205, respectively.

Plan Assets

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets

| b
at beginning of year i 37276 1 30,804
Actual return on plan assets 1,013 | (1,742
Employer contributions } 5,897 t 3,156
Plan participants’ contributions } 656 | 476
Benefits paid IQaee | (1,779
Translation adjustment [ 6133 | 6,361
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 1 $ 49,313 $ 37,276

Funded Status |
Funded status g {42,452) (27,981)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ; 21,199 9,164
Unrecognized transitional obligation ! 497 488
Unrecognized prior service cost % 4263 | 3,817
Additional minimum liability i (4747) (2,850)
Accrued benefit cost | $21,2400 | $17,362)

At the end of 2003 and 2002 the projected benefit obligation,
the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of plan
assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation in

excess of plan assets were as follows:

|

L - 2003 2002
End of Year ’
Projected benefit obligation ; $ 91,765 | 565,257
Accumulated benefit obligation ! 71,772 : 55,205
Fair value of plan assets | 49,313 37,276
Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation ’ § 22,459 los 17,929
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The Company's Norwegian subsidiary has a government
sponsored retirement plan that does not allow for funding. The
following table details the projected benefit obligation, the accu-
mulated benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for
the Company's Norwegian subsidiary:

Non-
Funded funded Total
Projected benefit obligations $41,950 $9,169  $51,119
Accumulated benefit obligations $29,570  $7,323  $36,893
Fair value of plan assets $23,715 N/A  $23,715
| 2003 | 2002
Weighted average assumptions at year-end: ' E
Discount rate ; 5.3% ; 5.8%
Expected return on plan assets ; 58%  6.8%
Rate of compensation increase | 3.5% ; 3.6%
L. i
Net Periodic Cost oy
Years Ended December 31, | 2003 | 2002 2001
Components of net !
periodic benefit cost: ¢
Service cost $4964 | $3826 $3380
Interest cost 4,048 ﬁ 3,187 2,730
Expected return on plan assets Q78 i (2,361 (1,925)
Amortization of f
transition obligation 8 | 8 1
Amortization of prior service cost 267 225 250
Recognized net actuarial loss 422 | 91 Qao»
Net periodic benefit cost $ 6,951 $ 4976 $ 4,327

The Company’s Danish subsidiary has a defined contribution
pension plan for salaried employees. Under the plan, the Company
contributes a percentage of each salaried employee’s compensa-
tion to an account which is administered by an insurance com-
pany. Pension expense under the plan was approximately $2,800,
$2,200 and $2,100 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

> 17. Transactions with A. L. Industrier ASA

Years Ended December 31, ; 2003 , 2002 2001
Sales to and commissions received 1

from A. L. Industrier ASA ( $506 | $1,925 51,881
Compensation received for ) r

management services rendered ; E

to A. L. Industrier ASA 13423 1 3 381§ 333

Inventory purchased from and
commissions paid to
A. L. Industrier ASA

$ — $2,969
15340 | $ 507 5 —

i
|

$ 9. % 8 5 8
Interest incurred on Industrier Note f

Rent expense




In March 1998, ALl purchased a convertible subordinated note
issued by the Company in the amount of $67,850. In October
2001 the Company exchanged the convertible subordinate note
into 2,372,897 shares of Class B common stock. (See Note 13.)
In addition, as of December 31, 2002 there was a net current
receivable of $106 from ALL

The Company and ALl have an administrative service agree-
ment whereby the Company provides management services to
ALl The agreement provides for payment equal to the direct and
indirect cost of providing the services subject to a minimum
amount. The agreement is automatically extended for one year
each January 1, but may be terminated by either party upon six
months notice.

In cannection with the agreement to purchase Alpharma Oslo,
AL! retained the ownership of the Skayen manufacturing facility
and administrative offices (not including leasehold improvements
and manufacturing equipment) and leases it to the Company. The
Company is required to pay all expenses related to the operation
and maintenance of the facility in addition to nominal rent. The
lease has an initial 20-year term and is renewable at the then fair
rental value at the option of the Company for four consecutive
five year terms.

In 2002, the Company signed a net lease agreement with
ALl that provides for the leasing of a parking lot at the Skayen
Facility through an initial term of October 2014 with the possibil-
ity of four consecutive five-year renewal terms. The annual rental
is 2.4 million Norwegian Kroner. (Approximately $340 at current
exchange rates.)

In January 2003, the Company divested its Norwegian vitamin
business to Nopal, a subsidiary of AL, for approximately $3,300.
The divestiture was a transaction between companies under com-
mon controf and accordingly, the gain on the sale was accounted
for as a capital transaction net of related taxes (32,267 net
increase to Additional Paid-in Capital). As required of all related
party transactions, the sale was determined to be fair to the
holders Class A common stock by the Company’s Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee.

> 18. Contingent Liabilities and Litigation

A class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District
Court for the District of New Jersey. This class action has been
brought on behalf of all persons who acquired the Company’s
securities between April 28, 1999 and October 30, 2000. The
Company is named as a defendant along with two of its board
members, one of whom is an officer, and two of its former offi-
cers. The dlass action complaint alleges that, among other things,
the plaintiffs were damaged when they acquired the Company’s

securities because, as a result of (1) alleged irregularities in the
Company’s Animal Health business in Brazil, (2) allegedly improper
revenue recognition practices and (3) the October 2000 revision
of its financial results for 1999 and 2000, the Company’s previously
issued financial statements were materially false and misleading,
thereby artificially inflating the price of the Company’s securities.
The complaint alleges violations of Sections 10(b), 20(a) and Rule
10b-5 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. The plaintiffs
seek damages in unspecified amounts. The Company moved to
dismiss the complaint on legal grounds and the District Court
granted its motion with prejudice as to all defendants. The plain-
tiffs filed a motion for reconsideration with the District Court and
the District Court affirmed its earlier dismissal. The plaintiffs have
appealed the Court’s decision to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals.
All permitted briefs have been filed with the Third Circuit and oral
argument was completed in 2003. The Company has vigorously
defended this appeal. Additionally, the Company has filed a claim
on its own behalf and on behalf of each of the named individual
defendants under its directors’ and officers’ insurance policies and
believes that insurance coverage exists to the extent of the policy
limits for the costs incurred in defending the claims and any
adverse judgment or settlement, subject to the terms, conditions
and exclusions of the relevant insurance policy. Based upon the
facts as presently known, the Company does not believe that it is
likely that the class action will result in liability which will be mate-
rial to the Company’s financial position. However, it is not possible
for the Company to conclude definitively that resolution of the
lawsuit will not be material to the Company’s financial position or
its results of operations or cash flows in the quarter or year in
which it occurs,

In June 2002, the SEC notified the Company that it had com-
menced a formal investigation of the circumstances surrounding
the 2000 and 2001 restatements of its financial statements.
Deposition and document discovery is underway. The SEC has
stated that the commencement of this investigation is not an
indication that the SEC presently believes that a violation of any
applicable laws has occurred.

During 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company received
substantial notices of inspection observations (”483 Reports”)
from the FDA at its USHP facilities in Baltimore and Elizabeth,
respectively. The 483 Reports listed alleged deviations from,
primarily, cGMPs.

The 2001 inspection at Baltimore resulted in an allegation by
the FDA that the Company was not in comgpliance with a 1992
Consent Decree requiring general compliance with ¢cGMPs. in July
2002, the FDA conducted a follow-up inspection to the 2001
inspection of the Baltimore facility and in August 2002 issued a
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re-inspection report. In response to the 2002 FDA report, the
Company submitted a comprehensive corrective action plan to
the FDA in October 2002, The FDA has not formally commented
on the Company's corrective action plan. The FDA performed
another inspection of the Baltimore facility in February of 2004
and issued a 483 Report detailing plant deficiencies. While the
FDA has not indicated to the Company its position as to any of
the items set forth on this February 2004 483 Report, the number
and scope of the comments has declined significantly from the
Report received in August 2002. The Company expects o continue
upgrading plant procedures at the Baltimore plant in accordance
with the October 2002 corrective action plan and will continue to
provide written monthly updates to the FDA. The plan anticipates
substantial completion of the corrective actions by the end of
2004. As part of the corrective action plan, product recalls were
conducted in 2002 and production at the Baltimore facility was
reduced in several increments during 2002 and 2003. This reduc-
tion in production has had an effect on earnings and the possibil-
ity of an adverse effect in 2004 was incorporated into the
Company budgeting process.

Between November, 2002 and January, 2003, the FDA con-
ducted a routine general inspection at the Company’s Elizabeth
plant. As a result of this inspection, the Company received a 483
Report from the FDA an January 15, 2003. The Company submit-
ted a comprehensive response on February 5, 2003 and is cur-
rently taking actions to address the observations made by the
FDA, in accordance with the response. The Company originally
anticipated completion of these actions on or about the end of
2003. However, the FDA performed a follow-up inspection in late
2003 and issued another 483 Report alleging continued deficien-
cies in compliance with FDA regulations. As a result the Company
now anticipates completion of a significant portion of its correc-
tive actions in mid 2004, with the remainder by March 2005.
Certain product recalls were included in the original corrective
action plan which were completed in 2002 and 2003.

The estimated total external consultant costs of the Baltimore
and Elizabeth corrective actions is approximately $8.0 million for
2004. In addition, the Company has added significant internal
personnet {largely quality and laboratory personnel) at both
Elizabeth and Baltimore.

The total cost and timing of both the Baltimore and Elizabeth cor-
rective action plans may change based upon the FDA responses which
have not yet been received and other factors. (See “Risk Factors.”)

In response to the Company’s submission to the FDA of its
ANDAs fited under paragraph IV for gabapentin capsules and
tablets, the Company was sued on June 11, 1998 with respect
o capsules and on December 12, 1399 with respect to tablets,
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by Warner-Lambert Company, which is now owned by Pfizer Inc.,
in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey for alleged
patent infringement under two U.S. patents. The ANDAs submitted
seek FDA approval to market the Company’s gabapentin capsules
and tablets prior to the expiration of Pfizer’s patents. In the
Company’s ANDAs, the Company certified to Pfizer and the FDA
that its proposed generic gabapentin capsules and tablets will
not infringe the patents and that the patents are believed to

be invalid or unenforceable. In the litigation concerning the
Company's gabapentin capsules, the Company filed a motion

for summary judgment of non-infringement of the two patents,
which was subseguently denied. The Company filed in the tablet
litigation, and renewed in the capsule litigation, the Company’s
motion of summary judgment of non-infringement on Pfizer's
patents. These motions have been decided in the Company’s
favor by the District Court.

During the lawsuits regarding gabapentin tablets and capsules,
Pfizer received a third patent covering a gabapentin formulation
with low chloride levels. After learning of this patent, the Company
certified to the FDA under paragraph IV that the Company’s pro-
posed gabapentin capsule and tablet, as disclosed in its previously
filed ANDAs, do not infringe this patent and this patent is invalid
or unenforceable. In June 2000, Pfizer sued the Company in
the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey for patent
infringement under this patent. The Company submitted to the
court a motion for summary judgment that neither the capsule
nor tablet product infringes this patent. This motion is under con-
sideration by the Court and has not yet been ruled on.

All three gabapentin cases have been consolidated for trial,
but no trial date has been set. Unless and until the Company
decides to utilize such authorization to market its gabapentin
tablets or capsules, the Company would, in the event of an
adverse decision, at most, only be liable to Pfizer for its legal costs
and not any monetary damages. To date, the Company has not
marketed these pharmaceuticals. There is the possibility that as a
result of this litigation, the Company could be prevented from
marketing the Company’s gabapentin capsules or tablets until
Pfizer's patents expire.

in 2003, the Company received confirmation from the FDA
that it has secured eligibility for 180 day market exclusivity on
gabapentin 100 mg, 300 mg and 400 mg capsules. Exclusivity for
this product will be triggered by the earlier of either Purepac’s
commercial marketing of gabapentin or a court decision that
finds the relevant Pfizer patent invalid, unenforceable or not
infringed. On February 14, 2003, Torpharm, a competitor that has
filed an ANDA for gabapentin capsules, filed a lawsuit against the
FDA in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia seeking




final approval for its gabapentin capsules ANDA. Both this District
Court and a federal appellate court upheld the FDA award to the
Company. The Company can give no assurance that it will ultimately
benefit from an exclusivity period.

In anticipation of the launch of gabapentin, the Company
entered into a supply agreement with the manufacturer of the
active pharmaceutical ingredient {the “GAPI”} of gabapentin
under which the Company has acquired GAPI inventory, The
terms of the Company’s agreement with the GAPI supplier will
require the payment to the supplier of a portion of the Company’s
net sales of finished dose gabapentin product during any period
of exclusivity ("Net Sales Split”). As of December 31, 2003, the
Company had paid approximately $12,500 in partial payment of
GAPI inventory. The Company will make additional payments of
approximately $22,800 and $10,500 in 2004 and 2005, respec-
tively, for GAPl inventory received and ordered. All of these pay-
ments reduce the Net Sales Split on a dollar for dollar basis. Other
than outstanding purchase orders for GAPI to be received subse-
quent to year-end, the Company has no additional obligation to
purchase additional GAPI inventory. The Company cannot predict
the outcome of the gabapentin litigation; however, in the event
of an unfavorable outcome, or other factors preventing the
Company from selling the finished product, the Company will
reassess the net realizable vaiue of the GAPI, and may incur a
charge to write-down GAP! to its net realizable value and record
any required payments under the supply agreement. The maxi-
mum charge could be approximately $46,000 based on GAPI
currently on hand or ordered. tn addition, the Company is negoti-
ating certain changes in the arrangement with its GAP! supplier
which, if unsuccessful, could require the Company to make a
$3,000 payment to the GAPI supplier.

The Company is one of multiple defendants in a lawsuit
brought by the Massachusetts Attorney General alleging Medicaid
fraud in connection with the manner the Company utilizes to estab-
lish the “average wholesale price” for its various drugs. In addition
four other state Attorneys General have given the Company notice
that said agencies are investigating what appear to be similar
claims. The Company believes that the manner in which it estab-
lishes its “average wholesale prices” is reasonable and proper and
furthermore that its practices in this regard are generally similar to
those used by others in the pharmaceutical industry.

The Federal Trade Commission is undertaking a formal investi-
gation of the facts and circumstances surrounding a 1998 agree-
ment with Perrigo Inc. under which the Company (i) renunciated
its 180 Waxman-Hatch marketing exclusivity for a certain product
and (i) granted a license under a patent related to the product
in return for royalty payments form Perrigo. The FTC is presently

engaged in deposition and document discovery and has not taken
any action which would indicate a belief that either the Company
or Perrigo violated applicable law.

The Company has been named in a lawsuit which alleges that
one of its AH products causes chickens to produce litter that con-
tains a high fevel of arsenic. The suit further aileges that this litter,
when used as agricultural fertilizer by the chicken farmer, causes
cancer in the plaintiffs (who allegedly live in close proximity to
such farm fields). In addition to the potential for personal injury
damages to the plaintiff's, there is the possibility of an adverse
customer reaction to the allegations in the fawsuit, The plaintiff’s
are also requesting that the Company be enjoined from the future
sale of the product at issue. The Company has not yet been served
in this matter and therefore has not had the opportunity to partic-
ipate in any discovery to form a view on the plaintiff's allegations.
Sales of this product were approximately $24 million in 2003.

The Company is engaged in disputes with several suppfiers,
customers and distributors regarding certain obligations with
respect to contracts under which the Company obtains raw mate-
rials and under which the Company supplies finished products.
Given the fact that these disputes will most probably be resolved
over more than one year, management does not believe that the
disputes in the aggregate will be material to the Company’s finan-
cial position. However, they could be material to the Company’s
results of operations or cash flows in the period in which resolu-
tion occurs.

The Company and its subsidiaries are, from time to time,
involved in other litigation arising out of the ordinary course of
business. It is the view of management, after consultation with
counsel, that the ultimate resolution of all other pending suits
should not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial position or results of operations of the Company.

> 19. Leases

Rental expense under operating leases for 2003, 2002 and
2001 was $14,068, $12,567, and $9,903, respectively. Future mini-
mum lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases
during each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,
2004 $10,457
2005 6,908
2006 5,043
2007 3,911
2008 3,703
Thereafter 11,613
$41,693
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> 20. Stockholders’ Equity

The holders of the Company’s Class B common stock, (totally
held by A. L. Industrier ASA at December 31, 2003), are entitled
to elect 66%% of the Board of Directors of the Company and
may convert each share of Class B common stock held into one
fully paid share of Class A common stock. Whenever the holders
of the Company’s Common Stock are entitled to vote as a com-
bined class, each holder of Class A and Class B common stock is
entitled to one and four votes, respectively, for each share held.

The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock is
500,000; the number of authorized shares of Class A common
stock is 75,000,000; and the number of authorized shares of
Class B common stock is 15,000,000.

On October 5, 2001, the Company exchanged 2,372,897
shares of Class B common stock for its 5.75% convertible subor-
dinated note due 2005 ("Industrier Note”). The increase in stock-
holders’ equity from the transaction was approximately $67,100
after deducting unamortized deferred loan costs. (See Note 13.)

In December 2001, the Company exchanged 1,483,761 shares
of its Class A common stock for a portion of its 05 Notes having
an approximate principal value of $34,134. The conversion
resulted in a non-cash pre-tax charge of $7,357, which was cred-
ited to additional paid-in capital along with accrued but unpaid
interest through the exchange date. The total exchange increased

common stock and additional paid-in capital by approximately
$40,100 (net of unamortized deferred loan costs).

In March 2002, the Company exchanged 3,266,850 of its
Class A common stock for a portion of its 05 Notes having an
approximate principal value of $56,600. The conversion resulted
in a non-cash pre-tax charge of $20,980, ($12,819) after-tax, which
was credited to additional paid-in capital along with accrued but
unpaid interest through the exchange date. The total exchange
increased common stock and additional paid-in capital by approxi-
mately $69,154 (net of unamortized deferred loan costs).

In March 2002, the Company exchanged 3,433,104 shares of
its Class A common stock for a portion of its 06 Notes having an
approximate principal value of $53,400. The conversion resulted
in a non-cash pre-tax charge of $26,982, (316,487 after-tax), which
was credited to additional paid-in capital along with accrued but
unpaid interest through the exchange date. The total exchange
increased common stock and additional paid-in capital by approxi-
mately $66,995 (net of unamortized deferred loan costs).

During 2003, the Company issued 154,754 shares of restricted
stock. Compensation cost for restricted stock is recorded based on
the market value on the date of grant. The fair value of restricted
stock is charged to unearned compensation in stockholders’ equity
and amortized to expense over the requisite vesting periods. Com-
pensation expense related to restricted stock was $326 in 2003.

A summary of activity in common and treasury stock follows:

] 2003 | 2002 2001
Class A Common Stock Issued : ;
Balance, January 1, | 39,895,214 | 32,740,289 31,009,790
Exercise of stock options and other 209,098 | 178,838 127,784
Restricted stock issued 154,754, —_ —
Employee stock purchase plan 224,752 | 276,133 118,954
Exchange of 05 Notes — 3,266,850 1,483,761
Exchange of 06 Notes , —— ’ 3,433,104 —_
Balance, December 31, | 40,483,818 39,895,214 32,740,289
Class B Common Stock Issued
Balance, January 1 11,872,897 11,872,897 9,500,000
Exchange of Industrier Note : — | — 2,372,897
Balance, December 31, 11,872,897 , 11,872,897 11,872,897
Treasury Stock (Class A) ! ’
Balance, January 1, 322,947 | 295,367 295,367
Purchases e 1 27,580 —_
Balance, December 31, I o324y | 522,947 295,367
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> 21. Derivatives and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company currently uses the following derivative financial instruments for purposes other than trading:

Derivative Use Purpose
Forward foreign exchange contracts Occasional
Interest rate agreements Occasional

Entered into selectively to sell or buy cash flows in non-functional currencies.
Entered into selectively to fix interest rate for specified periods on variable rate

long-term debt.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had foreign
currency contracts outstanding with a notional amount of approx-
imately $118,487, and $132,600, respectively. These contracts
called for the exchange of Scandinavian and European currencies
and in some cases the U.S. Dollar to meet commitments in or sell
cash flows generated in non-functional currencies. All outstanding
contracts will expire in 2004 and the unrealized gains and losses
are not material. The Company does not account for these trans-
actions as hedges under FAS 133.

Counterparties to derivative agreements are major financial
institutions. Management believes the risk of incurring losses
related to credit risk is remote.

The Company also used interest rate swaps to hedge variable
interest rates, in accordance with the requirements of the 2001
Credit Fadility. These swaps have been designated as cash flow
hedges and are reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair
value, with offsetting amounts, included in Other Comprehensive
Loss on an after-tax basis in the amount of $1,954.

Changes in the derivative fair value that are designated as
effective and qualify in cash flow hedges are deferred and
recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss)
until the hedge transactions occur and are then recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The ineffective portion is rec-
ognized immediately in the consclidated statement of income. As
of December 31, 2003, the Company uses hedged transactions
covered under FAS 133 exclusively to manage risk under variable
interest rate debt. The Company has structured all existing inter-
est rate swap agreements as 100% effective. As a result, there is
no current impact to earnings resulting for hedge ineffectiveness.

The Company currently has the following interest rate swap,
classified as a cash flow hedge as of December 31, 2003:

Notional Fair Value
Amount Maturity Date Classification (Pre-tax)
$100,000 December 2004 Cash flow hedge $(3,150)

The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and short-term debt approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The
carrying amount reported for long-term debt other than the subordinated notes approximates fair value because a significant portion of
the underlying debt is at variable rates and reprices frequently. The fair value of the 2005 and 2006 subordinated notes is based on the
bid price of the notes, which are publicly traded. The fair value of the 2011 senior notes and the 2009 subordinated notes, which are not
publicly traded, have been calculated based on comparable market yields at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively.
The estimated fair value of the subordinated notes at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

2002

Carrying Fair

December 31, ¢ Amount Value
5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2005 ‘ - $ ;6;)\3‘; $ 34,207 $ 27,323
3% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2006 i 5147546 $3?6,44'7 . $141,204 $111,375
8.625% Senior Notes due 2011 15220000 " o §224400 | N/A N/A
12% senior subordinated notes due 2009 (repaid in 2003) N/A N/A $200,293 $215,000
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> 22. Stock Options and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Prior to May 19, 2003, the Company’s 1997 Incentive Stock
Option and Appreciation Right Plan (the "Plan”), the Company
granted options to key employees to purchase shares of Class A
common stock. The maximum number of Class A shares available
for grant under the Plan was 8,000,000. In addition, the Company
had a Non-Employee Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”)
which provided for the issue of up to 350,000 shares of Class A
common stock. The exercise price of options granted under the
Plan could not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the
Class A common stock on the date of the grant. Options granted
expired from three to ten years after the grant date. Generally,
options were exercisable in installments of 25% beginning one
year from date of grant. The Plan permitted a cash appreciation
right to be granted to certain employees. Included in options
outstanding at December 31, 2003 are options to purchase
27,550 shares with cash appreciation rights, 15,350 of which
are exercisable. If an option holder ceased to be an employee of
the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason prior to vesting
of any options, all options which were not vested at the date of
termination were forfeited. As of December 31, 2002, options
for 1,768,423 shares were available for future grant.

On May 19, 2003, the Company’s stockholders approved the
Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus incentive Compensation Plan, (the

"Incentive Compensation Plan”). The Incentive Compensation
Plan permits stock option grants, stock appreciation rights grants
("SARs"), annual incentive awards, stock grants, restricted stock
grants, restricted stock unit grants, performance stock grants, per-
formance units grants, and cash awards. Upon adoption of the
incentive Compensation Plan, no additional options were granted
under the previously existing plans and all shares reserved under
these existing plans were returned to the Company’s supply of
autharized but unissued shares, not reserved for any purpose,
although outstanding options granted pursuant to the previously
existing plans will remain outstanding. Upon adoption, the maxi-
mum number of Class A shares available for grant under the
incentive Compensation Plan was 4,750,000 and the number of
shares that were permitted to be issued for Awards other than
stock options or SARS, (both with a grant price equal to at least
fair market value), were not to exceed a total of 2,000,000
shares. Options granted expire from three to ten years after the
grant date. Generally, options are exercisable in installments of
25% beginning one year from date of grant. If an option holder
ceases to be an employee of the Company or its subsidiaries for
any reason prior to vesting of any options, all options which

are not vested at the date of termination are forfeited. As of
December 31, 2003, 6,430,310 shares are available for future
grant under all plans.

The table below summarizes the activity of the Plan:

Weighted Weighted
Options Average Qptions Average
Qutstanding Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
Balance at December 31, 2000 2,213,152 $31.13 456,395 $29.81
Granted in 2001? 843,775 $29.25
Forfeited in 2001 (235,436) $34 64
Exercised in 2001 (146,183%) $17.22
Balance at December 31, 2001 2,675,308 $31.00 1,125,974 $29.84
Granted in 2002 2,641,204 $13.71
Forfeited in 2002 (934,589) $31.64
Exercised in 2002 (161,588) $16.98
Balance at December 31, 2002 4,220,335 $20.57 970,023 $30.58
Granted in 2003 T 427,900 $17.78 T
Forfeited in 2003 (494,541 820,02
Exercised in 2003 L (212,356) $10.67 F
Balance at December 31, 2003 | 3,941,338 $20.85 1,911,398 $25.29 |

(1) All options granted tn 2001, 2002 and 2003 were with exercise prices equal to fair market value of Class A stock on the date of grant.
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The Company estimated the fair value, as of the date of grant, of options outstanding in the plan using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing mode! with the following assumptions:

Expected life (years)
Expected future dividend yield (average)
Expected volatility

2002 2001
1-5 1-5

1.20% 0.70%

0.50 0.50

The risk-free interest rates for 2003, 2002 and 2001 were based upon U.S. Treasury instrument rates with maturity approximating
the expected term. The weighted average interest rate in 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to 3.0%, 3.8% and 4.6%, respectively. The
weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 with exercise prices equal
to fair market value on the date of grant was $8.81, $6.13 and $13.63, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Range of Exercise Prices Remaining Life Exercise Price Exercise Price
$ 8.54-$14.44 8.07 $11.77 $11.56
$15.77-$30.11 6.27 $23.36 $25.14
$30.81-862.56 2.97 $36.97 $37.34
$ 8.54-$62.56 6.46 $20.85 $25.29
The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan by which Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001
eligible employees of the Company may authorize payroll deduc- Depreciation expense $44,565  $33,240
tions up to 4% of their regular base salary to purchase shares of Amortization expense $38967  $38,349
Class A common stock at the fair market value, The Company Interest cost incurred: §
matches these contributions with an additional contribution equal Interest expense §7L496* 845467
o ) Amortization of loan costs 4,727 6,022
10 50% of the employee’s contribution. Shares are issued on the g o
_— Subtotal 76,223 51,48
last day of each calendar quarter. The Company’s contributions to ’ ’
yore ) quarte panys co R Capitalized interest 1,904 2,232
the plan were approximately $1,400, $1,250 and $1,100 in 2003, ]
2002 and 2001, respectively. Interest cost incurred $78,127 $53,721
Other income (expense), net:
> 23. Supplemental Data Proﬁt-shgrmg income $ — 8 -
: Interest income 1,411 3,511
Other assets and deferred charges at December 31 include: Foreign exchange gains
~602 (losses), net (5,342) (3,396)
o Litigation/insurance
Capitalized software cost, settlements 561 2,088
net of amortization $43,805 Income from Wynco,
Deferred borrowing costs, carried at equity 1,013 846
net of amortization 20,669 Proceeds from sale of
Recoverable insurance claims 3,633 trademark —_ —
Equity investment in Wynco, Investment write-off — (2,533)
net of distributions 5,893 Other, net (573 1,119
Deferred tax assets 933 g
52,9300 $§ (60
Other 14,883 (2930, €03
$89.816 *Includes interest expense from discontinued operations of $11 and 37 in

2002 and 2001, respectively.
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(In thousands, except share data)

Supplemental cash flow information

D 2003 | 2002 2001
Cash paid for interest (net of amount capitalized) ; $54,925 | $ 68,693 $ 41,637
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) $ 2,935 g $ 3,116 $ 20,845

Other non-cash operating activities: 5 : ‘ é
Undistributed earnings of equity subsidiary [ § 08 $ (655 $ (38D
Stock option income tax benefits - — 478
Non-cash asset write-downs ‘ - 144,756 20,300
Restricted stock amortization f 326 — —_
Loss on early extinguishment of debt L 6,909 1,791 3,672
Expense for exchange of convertible notes ; - | 47,961 6,334
[ § 7,157 $193,853 $ 30,403

Other non-cash investing activities: % !
Fair value of assets acquired L - $ — $866,120
Liabilities % — — 172,472
Cash paid 3 ‘ — — 693,648
Less cash acquired 3 — i? — 5,759
Net cash paid i - $ — $687,889

Other non-cash financing activities: § [
Exchange of convertible subordinated notes into equity s - $110,000 $101,984

> 24. Information Concerning Business Segments and
Geographic Operations

in 1998 the Company adopted SFAS 131, "Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” The
Company’s reportable segments are the four businesses described
in Note 1, {i.e., IG, APY, USHP, AH). Each business operates in a
distinct business and/or geographic area.

The operations of each segment are evaluated based on earn-
ings before interest and taxes (operating income). Unallocated
includes corporate expenses for administration, finance, legal and
certain unallocated expenses primarily related to the implementa-
tion of a company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning System.

Eliminations include inter-segment sales. Geographic revenues
represent sales to third parties by country in which the selling
fegal entity is domiciled. Operating assets directly attributable to
business segments are included in identifiable assets (i.e., sum of
accounts receivable, inventories, net property, plant and equip-
ment and net intangible assets). Cash, prepaid expenses, and
other corparate and non-allocated assets are included in unallo-
cated. For geographic reporting long-lived assets include net
property, plant and equipment and net intangibles. Segment
data includes immaterial inter-segment revenues. No customer
accounts for more than 10% of consolidated revenues.

Depreciation

Total  Operating  Identifiable and Capital

Revenue Income Assets Amortization Expenditures
2003 } §
IG | § 367,760 $ 20247 § 618370 $19,297 $2275 |
AP 124485 65,651 132,385 7,683 13,059
USHP* ! 524,666 38,931 938,689 34,960 16,538 |
Human Pharmaceuticals i 0016917 133,829 1,689,444 61,940 31,870 ;
Animal Health L 205706 20,133 407,590 16,532 3,985 |
Discontinued operations* i — — — 698 8 ;
Unallocated ‘; - (39.952) 230,767 16,031 6756 |
Profit-sharing income** : (9,081) {5,081) - — — — [!
Eliminations (6,257 (539 — — —_
[ 51207285 $104390  $2327,801 $95,201 $42,619 |
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Depreciation

Total Operating Identifiable and Capital
Revenue Income Assets  Amortization  Expenditures

2002
1G $ 319,633 $ 25,806 $ 554,498 $17,343 $ 6,627
APL 83,557 38,920 106,504 6,861 10,680
USHP 507,904 66,253 999,667 32,883 21,566
Human Pharmaceuticals 911,094 130,979 1,660,669 57,087 33,873
Animal Health 321,897 (120,941 457,593 16,075 25,850
Discontinued operations* — — 9,463 1,199 1
Unallocated —_ (34,095) 169,199 9,171 9,666
Eliminations (2,229 (154) — — —
$1,230,762 $ (24,211) $2,296,924 $83,532 $74,390

2001
1G § 257,233 $ 11,991 $ 488,053 $25,502 $ 9,805
APL 74,419 32,182w 75,629 5,890 5,955
USHP 306,436 (18,867 1,022,706 12,241 25,174
Human Pharmaceuticals 638,088 25,306 1,586,388 43,633 40,934
Animal Health 335,256 23,638@ 601,601 20,844 23,518
Discontinued operations* — — 13,724 1,690 9
Unallocated — (22,99%) 188,295 5,422 20,786
Eliminations (4,058) 31 — — —
$ 969,286 $ 25980 $2,390,008 $71,589 $85,247

* Discontinued operations inchuded for identifiable assets depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures. Discontinued operations have been
excluded for IG.
** Profit-sharing income is tncluded in USHP and is classified as Other income in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
(a) 2001 includes charges of approximately $4,300 related to the combination of management of IG and API.
(B) 2001 USHP operating income includes charges of ($44,245) related to the OPB acquisition.
(c) Animal Health includes charges to operating income of approximately $9,800 relating to severance and the discontinuance of the Optibreed product livte.
(d) Animal Health includes charges 1o operating income of approximately $66,011 related to the write-off of goodwill, asset impairment charges of approximately
$37,100, costs assoctated with facility closings and related asset write-downs of approximately §45,192 and severance charges of approximately $3,852.

Geographic information
Revenues Long-Lived Identifiable Assets

L= 2003 2002 2001 2002 2001
United States [ 784800 $ 775,000 $580,100 $ 959,800 $1,096,400
Norway Lo 83,500 71,700 63,700 82,700 67,700
Denmark 0.0 69,800 48,400 41,200 59,100 49,000
United Kingdom 1' 1]1}:},000;}3 109,500 93,700 178,300 163,800
Germany 79,70 66,400 60,800 ‘ 126,100 107,300
Other foreign (primarily Europe)” DU U162485 159,762 129,786 124641 | 106,237 109,853
| $1,297285 $1,230,762 $969,286 L$1s4614  $1512237 $1,504,053

*Other foreign bas been adjusted to exclude discontinued operations.
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(In thousands, except share data)

> 25. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth Full
Quarter Quarter® Quarter Quarter™ Year
2003 j )
Total revenue | $302,237 $533,018 $315,380 $346,650 $1,267,285
Gross profit b $127,016 $140,033 $118,101 $137,329 $ 522479
Net income % 7537 $ (4,005 $ 1,198 $ 12,296 $ 16936
Earnings per common share ; |
Basic % 015 $ (0.08 $ 002 $ 024 $ 033
Diluted L $ 015 $ (0.08) $ 002 $ 024 $ 032
! - ;
First Second Third Fourth Full
Quarter® Quarter Quarter Quarter® Year
2002

Total revenue $270,541 $299,982 $320,094 $340,145 $1,230,762
Gross profit $108,879 $132,289 $141,913 $142,507 $ 525,588
Net income $(31,940) $ 10,159 $ (5,946) $(71,934) $ (99,661)

Earnings per common sharet:
Basic $ (0.70) $ 020 $ 012 $ Q.40 $ 2.00)
Diluted $ (0.70) $ 020 $ 1 $ (140 $ (200

(a) The second quarter of 2003 includes pre-tax loss on extinguishment/conversion of debt of $28,408, which is comprised of $§22,191 of debt placement fees
and $£6,217 of deferred debt expense associated with the issuance of $220,000 of 8%% Notes.
(&) The fourth quarter 2003 includes pre-tax charges of 38,727 related to reorganization, refocus and other actions.
(c) The sum of diluted loss per common share does not equal the total for the year in 2002 due to the issuance of stock in the second and fourth quarters.
(d) The first quarter of 2002 includes the following pre-tax charges: Exchange of convertible notes of approximately $48,000, $5,357 related to the OPB
acquisition (see Note 4), reorganization, refocus and other actions of approximately $2,500, and charges related to the early extinguishment of debt in

the first quarter of $727.

(e) The fourth quarter of 2002 includes the following pre-tax charges: Approximately $79,500 refated to impairment charges under FAS 142, reorganiza-
tion, refocus and other actions of approximately 349,300 and $3,176 related to the write-off of deferred loan costs incurred in connection with a reduc-

tion in the Company’s lines of credit.
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> 26. Subsequent Event—Change in Equity Investment

On January 7, 2004, the Company purchased the remaining
50% interest in Wynco, LLC ("Wynco”), an Animal Health prod-
uct distribution company, that it did not previously own. The pur-
chase price was $4,331, approximately $300 of which is payable
over three years, beginning on December 31, 2004. In connection
with the acquisition, the Company assumed debt of approxi-
mately $6,677. The investment was previously recorded in accord-
ance with the equity method, with the original 50% interest
included in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations.
As of the date of purchase, the Company will consolidate the
results of Wynco in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
and include all related assets and liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Wynco 2003 revenues and operating income were
$84,600 and $1,300, respectively. Wynco results include approxi-
mately $11,600 derived from the purchase of products from the
Company under an exclusive sales agency arrangement, and
approximately $1,300 derived from commissions for distribution
of the Company’s products. In March 2004, the Company entered
into an agreement to sell its 100% interest in this distribution
company, subject to normal closing conditions. The Company
expects to approximately break even on the sale.

> 27. Guarantor and Nonguarantor Condensed Consolidated
Financial Information

The following finandal information is presented to segregate
the parent and certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries which are
guarantors under the Senior Unsecured Notes due 2011 from
nonguarantor subsidiaries. The guarantors will jointly and sever-
ally, and fully and unconditionally, guarantee the Company’s obli-
gation under the Notes. The consolidating financial information
presents the consolidating balance sheet as of December 31, 2003
and December 31, 2002 and the related statements of operations
and cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 for:

» Alpharma Inc., the parent;

* The guarantor subsidiaries;

e The nonguarantor subsidiaries; and

¢ The Company on a consolidated basis.

The information includes elimination entries necessary to
consolidate Alpharma Inc., the parent, with guarantor and
nonguarantor subsidiaries.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the parent
using the equity method of accounting. The guarantor and
nonguarantor subsidiaries are presented on a combined basis.
The ncnguarantor subsidiaries include the discontinued opera-
tions. The principal elimination entries eliminate investments in
subsidiaries and intercompany balances and transactions.

Separate financial statements for the guarantor subsidiaries
and the nonguarantor subsidiaries are not presented because
management believes that such financial statements would not
be meaningful to investors.
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Consolidating Balance Sheet

(In thousands, except share data)

Guarantor ~ Nonguarantor Consolidated

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
As of December 31, 2003 |
Current assets: 1 ‘
Cash and cash equivalents ; $ (3372 5 5105 $ 36,890 5 — $ 58,623 |
Accounts receivable, net | 44,295 114,798 99,380 — 258,471 .
Inventories ; 75,732 113,240 127,405 (8,567 207,810 '
Prepaid expenses and other 14,284 40,408 8,645 3,283 66,620 |
Assets of discontinued operations § — — - —-— —
Intercompany receivables 2,002,901 940,145 1,142,180 (4,085,226) —
Total current assets 2,133,838 1,213,696 1,434,500 (4,090,510) 691,524 ¢
Property, plant & equipment, net 3 117,751 165,404 198,399 - 481,554 |
Goodwill 4912 405,619 303,105 (2,657 710979 |
Intangible assets, net | 49,318 179,714 118,638 — 347,670
Investment in subsidiaries I 331,762 515,779 - (B47,541) — \'
Assets of discontinued operations ‘ -— — — — - ’
Other assets and deferred charges 35,708 12,231 48,135 - 96,074 v

Total assets | $2,673280  $2,492,443 $2,102,777  $(4,940,708)  $2.327,801
Current liabilities: ' |
Short-term debt % — § 9500 $ — $ — $ 9500
Long-term debt, current portion ! — 23,660 1,747 — 25,407 !
Accounts payable and accrued expenses , 66,139 114,214 106,198 — 286,551 |

Accrued and deferred income taxes , 16,108 1,930 14,205 — 32,243
Liabilities of discontinued operations t — — — — —
Intercompany payables ; 1,086,637 1,846,492 1,152,097 (4,085,226) -
Total current liabilities L1684 1,995,796 1274247 (4.085,226) 353701 |
Long-term debt: ; |
Senior L 220,000 348,009 31,787 — 600,696
Convertible subordinated notes i 181,353 — — — 181,553 »
Liabilities of discontinued operations : — — — — —
Deferred income taxes L (37,406 47,759 14,175 — 24,508 |
Other non-current liabilities ! 5,166 1,481 25,604 — 32,251 |
Stockholders’ equity: ; [
Preferred stock i s o — — o r
Class A Common Stock ; 8,092 — — — 8,002 t
Class B Common Stock 2,375 — — — 2375 |
Additional paid-in-capital | 1,059,104 12,605 491,137 (503,742) 1,059,104
Deferred stock cost 1 (2,667) — — — (2,667 '
Retained earnings L (20180 85,913 187,792 (273,705) (20,181 |
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 95,784 - 78,035 (78,03%) 95,784
Treasury stock, at cost | (7,415) — — — (7,415 |
Total stockholders' equity 1,135,002 98,518 756,964 (855,482) 1135002 |

Total liabilities & stockholders’ equity | $2,673,289 52,492,443 §2,102,777 $(4,940,708) $2,327,801
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Consolidating Balance Sheet

Guarantor  Nonguarantor Consolidated
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Efiminations Total
As of December 31, 2002
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,560 $ 2,621 $ 19,691 $ — $ 23872
Accounts receivable, net 31,140 110,210 92,977 — 234,327
Inventories 110,650 113,397 124,181 (4,329 343,899
Prepaid expenses and other 16,011 33,103 13,091 4,329 66,534
Assets of discontinued operations — — 2,797 —_ 2,797
Intercompany receivables 1,339,495 1,816,831 935,259 (4,091,583 —
Total current assets 1,498,856 2,076,162 1,187,996 (4,091,585) 671,429
Property, plant & equipment, net 122915 170,614 188,744 — 482,273
Goodwill 1,250 406,623 264,039 — 671,912
Intangible assets, net 53,098 199,146 122,584 — 374,828
Investment in subsidiaries 822,907 489,672 —_ (1,312,579) _—
Assets of discontinued operations — — 6,666 —_— 6,666
Other assets and deferred charges 44,722 12,131 32,963 — 89,816
Total assets $2,543,748 $3,354,348 $1,802,992 $(5,404,164) $2,2906,924
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt $ — $ 20,000 $ — $ -— $ 20,000
Long-term debt, current portion —_ 26,880 1,712 — 28,592
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 74,014 118,163 108,149 — 300,326
Accrued and deferred income taxes 20,046 ©0) 8,480 — 28,436
Liabilities of discontinued operations — — 1,247 — 1,247
Intercompany payables 1,285,872 1,797 857 1,007,856 (4,091,585 —
Total current liabilities 1,379,932 1,962,810 1,127,444 (4,091,583) 378,601
Long-term debt:
Senior — 439,389 32,172 — 471,561
Convertible subordinated notes 175,412 200,293 — — 375,705
Liabilities of discontinued operations —_— — 1,706 — 1,706
Deferred income taxes (18,922) 39,671 17,957 — 38,706
Other non-current liabilities 5,483 1,133 22,186 — 28,802
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — — — — —
Class A Common Stock 7,978 — — — 7,978
Class B Common Stock 2,375 — — — 2,375
Additional paid-in-capital 1,046,802 695,449 486,883 (1,182,332) 1,046,802
Retained earnings (27,797 15,652 148,544 (164,196) (27,797
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20,100) 49) (33,900) 33,949 (20,100)
Treasury stock, at cost (7,415) — _ —_ (7,415)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,001,843 711,052 601,527 (1,312,579 1,001,843
Total liabilities & stockholders’ equity $2,543,748 $3,354,348 $1,802,992 $(5,404,164) $2,296,924
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Consolidating Statement of Operations

(In thousands, except share data)

Guarantor  Nonguarantor Consolidated
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 | . ‘
Total revenue ‘ $ 318,661 $508,736 $588,735 $(118,847) $1,207,285 |
Cost of sales 215,085 340,351 338,217 {118,847) 774,806 |
Gross profit 103,576 168,385 250,518 — 522,479 |
Selling, general and administrative expenses 97,227 140,666 180,521 — 418,414
Operating income (loss) ; 6,349 27,719 69,997 — 104,065 |
Interest expense L (56,046 (5,102} (2,460 - (63,608) |
Other income (expense), net I (27,502) 29,264 (23,978) — (22,216)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ] 80,074 36,406 —~ (117,380) -
Income before taxes ’: 2775 88,287 43,559 {117,380 18,241 !
Provision (benefir) for income taxes L1336 (7,313) D A7153) — (1,305) |
Net income (Ioss) [5 16936 - $80974 ©  $36406  $(117380)  § 16936 |
For the Year Ended December 31, 2002
Total revenue $ 309,170 $507,919 $506,859 $ (93,186) $1,230,762
Cost of sales 203,473 307,830 287,057 (93,186) 705,174
Gross profit 105,697 200,089 219,802 — 525,588
Selling, general and administrative expenses 234,189 144,222 171,388 — 549,799
Operating income (loss) (128,492) 55,867 48,414 — (24,211
Interest expense (11,411 (56,360) (8,441) — (76,212)
Other income (expense), net (57,268) 3,736 2327 — (55,859
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 30,436 23,699 — (54,135) —
Income (loss) before taxes (166,735) 26,942 37,646 (54,135) (156,282)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (67,074) (3,494) 7,853 —_ 62,715)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (99,661) 30,436 29,793 (54,1353) (93,567)
Net discontinued operations — — (6,094) — (6,094)
Net income (loss) $ (99,661) $ 30,436 $ 23,699 $ (54,135) $ (99,661)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2001
Total revenue $ 330,694 $303,190 $433,475 $ (98,073) $ 969,286
Cost of sales 217,317 215,063 256,786 (98,073) 591,093
Gross profit 113,377 88,127 176,689 —_ 378,193
Selling, general and administrative expenses 91,256 108,883 152,074 — 352,213
Operating income (loss) 22,121 (20,756) 24,615 _ 25,980
Interest expense (32,765) (9,343) (9,374) — (51,482)
Other income {expense), net (27,027) 17,069 1,676 - (11,639
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries (16,381) 7,818 — 8,503 —
Income (loss) before taxes (54,052) (5,212) 13,565 8,563 (37,136)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (16,350) 11,169 4,638 — (543)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (37,702) (16,381 8,927 8,563 (36,593)
Net discontinued operations — — (1,109) — 1,109
Net income (loss) $ (37,702) $(16,381) $ 7,818 $ 8563 $ (37,702)
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Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Parent Guarantor  Nonguarantor  Consolidated

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of property
Purchase of businesses & intangibles, net of cash required

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt
Reduction of senior long-term debt
Proceeds from senior long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of stock
Change in long-term intercompany rec/pay
Change in investment in subsidiaries
Change in intercompany dividends
Change in treasury stock
Payment of debt issuance costs
Dividends paid

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes
Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

For the Year Ended December 31, 2002
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of businesses & intangibles, net of cash required

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities:

Increase (Decrease) in short-term debt

Reduction of senior long-term debt

Proceeds from senior long-term debt

Proceeds from employee stock option and stock
purchase plan and other

Change in long-term intercompany rec/pay

Change in intercompany dividends & investment
in subsidiaries

Payment of debt issuance costs

Dividends paid

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes
Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

| $ 58347 5162967 |
a6 2619
e

CB075) (52520
‘ U168 |

"(10,4?3)
(323,969 ¢/

H§56890

$ (7,657) $ 104,927 $ 64,930 $ 162,200
(22,859) (21,566) (29,965) (74,390)
(8,843) 6,619 (5,089 (7,313)
(31,702) (14,947 (35,054 (81,703
— 19,500 4,175) 15,325

— (106,451) (10,916) (117,367>

— 31,000 — 31,000

6,493 — 227 6,720
15,934 — (15,934 —
26,211 (33,426) 7,215 —
380 — — 580
(9,235) — —_ (9,235)
39,983 (89,377) (23,583) (72,977
— —_ 1,549 1,549

624 603 7,842 9,069

936 2,018 11,940 14,894

$ 1,560 $ 2,621 $ 19,782 $ 23,963

(continued)
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(In thousands, except share data)

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Parent  Guarantor  Nonguarantor  Consolidated

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (52,541)  $ 139,569 $ 32,356 $ 119,384
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (39,420) (25,411) (20,416) (85,247)
Purchase of businesses & intangibles, net of cash required —_ (645,992) (18,052) (664,044)
Other intangibles (7,928) (12,827) (3,090) (23,845)
Net cash used in investing activities (47,348) (684,230) (41,558) (773,136)
Financing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in shost-term debt _ 500 4,190 4,690
Reduction of senior long-term debt (87,0000 (268,282) (2,792) (358,074)
Proceeds from long-term debt 822,000 162,000 117 984,117
Proceeds from issuance of stock 5,545 — — 5,545
Change in long-term intercompany rec/pay (673,137) 669,851 3,286 —
Change in investment in subsidiaries 15,013 — (15,013 -
Change in intercompany dividends 17,855 (17,855) — —
Payment of debt issuance costs (31,6100 — —_ (31,610
Dividends paid (7,541 — —_ (7,54
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 61,125 546,214 (10,212) 597,127
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes — — (1,412) (1,412)
Increase (decrease) in cash (38,764) 1,553 (20,826) (58,037)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 39,700 465 32,766 72,931
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 936§ 2,018 $ 11,940 $ 14,894
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Report of Independent Auditors

> To the Stockholders and
Board of Directors of
Alpharma Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consafidated results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America which require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-~
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
effective January 1, 2002.

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company changed its method of accounting for
certain domestic inventories effective January 1, 2003.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Florham Park, New Sersey
February 27, 2004

> page 65
Alpbarma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2003 Annual Report



Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

> Market Information

The Company’s Class A common stock is listed on the New
Yark Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). Information concerning the 2003
and 2002 sales prices of the Company's Class A common stock is

set forth in the table below.

Stock Trading Price

‘ 2003 E 2002
Quarter } High Low |  High Low
First | $17.99 $12.22 | $2739 $13.85
Second | 52333 s17.4z§ $21.73  $14.43
Third | $2285 $1802 | $1618 $ 891
Fourth | $2083 $17.51 | $1353 $ 6.62

j

As of December 31, 2003 and March 8, 2004 the Company’s
stock closing price was $20.10 and $19.80 respectively.
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> Holders

As of February 27, 2004, there were 718 holders of record of
the Company’s Class A common stock and A. L. Industrier held
all of the Company’s Class B common stock. Record holders of
the Class A common stock include Cede & Co., a clearing agency
which held approximately 97.56% of the outstanding Class A
common stock as a nominee.

> Dividends

The Company has declared consecutive quarterly cash divi-
dends on its Class A and Class B common stock beginning in the
third quarter of 1984. Quarterly dividends per share in 2003 and
2002 were $.045 per quarter or $.18 per year.
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